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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MURs 7340/7609R
GREAT AMERICA COMMITTEE, et al.

N N N’ N

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIRMAN SEAN J. COOKSEY AND
COMMISSIONER ALLEN DICKERSON

Collectively, these two Matters raised seven separate allegations that the
Respondents violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“Act”
or “FECA”).1 Our Office of General Counsel (“OGC”) recommended that we dismiss
six of those seven allegations, and we voted accordingly for the reasons OGC
articulated in its First General Counsel’s Report.2 Conversely, OGC recommended
reason to believe regarding one allegation, that then-President Donald Trump’s 2020
campaign committee violated the Act “by soliciting soft money.”3

OGC asked us to find reason to believe this violation occurred because the
Trump committee issued a public statement warning the candidate’s supporters
against groups that the committee considered to be dishonest and fraudulent. We
voted to dismiss this allegation under our prosecutorial discretion.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

These Matters came before the Commission on two principal complaints. One,
running 348 pages,4 raised numerous allegations against the Trump committee, the
then-sitting President and Vice President, the Great America Committee, the
Republican National Committee (“RNC”), America First Action, Inc., America First
Policies, Bradley J. Parscale, and Marty Obst. OGC recommended that we dismiss

1 First Gen’l Counsel’s Report (“FGCR”) at 30, MUR 7340/7609 (Great America Comm.).
2 Id.
3 1d.

4 Complaint (MUR 7340).



those allegations.? The second complaint raised the soft money allegation OGC
recommended we pursue,® a charge later echoed in a supplement to the first
complaint.?

That allegation centered on the Trump committee’s statement denouncing
what it called “dishonest” groups. OGC recommended finding reason to believe that
this statement violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A), which prohibits any “candidate”
from “solicit[ing]...funds in connection with an election for Federal office, including
funds for any Federal election activity, unless the funds are subject to the limitations,
prohibitions, and reporting requirements of this Act.”8 Put simply, no federal
candidate may raise so-called “soft money”—donations in excess of the base limits—
for any organization.

The relevant statement, titled “Trump Campaign Statement on Dishonest
Fundraising Groups,” was released on May 7, 2019 and reads in full:

The following is a statement from the Donald J. Trump for President campaign:

President Trump’s campaign condemns any organization that deceptively uses the
President’s name, likeness, trademarks, or branding and confuses voters. There is no
excuse for any group, including ones run by people who claim to be part of our
‘coalition,” to suggest they directly support President Trump’s re-election or any other
candidates, when in fact their actions show they are interested in filling their own
pockets with money from innocent Americans’ paychecks, and sadly, retirements. We
encourage the appropriate authorities to investigate all alleged scam groups for
potential illegal activities.

There are only four fundraising organizations authorized by President Trump or the
RNC: Donald J. Trump for President, the Republican National Committee, and two
joint fundraising committees with the RNC, The Trump Make American [sic] Great
Again Committee (TMAGAC) and Trump Victory. In addition, there is one approved
outside non-campaign group, America First Action, which is run by allies of the
President and is a trusted supporter of President Trump’s policies and agendas.

OGC characterized this statement as a solicitation for soft money donations to
America First Action, and recommended enforcement against the Trump committee.
We disagreed and voted to dismiss under Heckler v. Chaney.®

5 FGCR at 30.

6 Complaint (MUR 7609).
7 Supp. Complaint (MUR 7340).
852 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A).

9 On remand in MUR 7609R, we cast this vote on November 1, 2023.



11. LEGAL ANALYSIS

This vote took place shortly after the Commission had reacquired a quorum
and faced a substantial backlog of hundreds of Matters—many of which were
imperiled by the statute of limitations.1© OGC’s scarce resources had already been
spent evaluating this matter and determining that most of the allegations merited
dismissal. And while one of our colleagues has speculated that this Matter may have
involved “potentially multi-million dollar violations”!! of the Act, OGC recommended
a penalty, which would be subject to further negotiation, of a mere -—a sum
unlikely to exceed the Commission’s expenses in obtaining it. In these circumstances,
we concluded the Commission’s scarce resources would be best spent elsewhere.

These prudential concerns were buttressed by the likelihood of a successful
and costly legal challenge to enforcement on these facts.

Under the regulations implementing 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A), we have
defined a solicitation as “an oral or written communication that, construed as
reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message
asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a contribution,
donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”!2 The regulation
goes on to note that this “clear message” can be “made...indirectly.”13 We have also
stated that this standard is an objective test, which “does not turn on the subjective
interpretations of the speaker or the recipients,”’4 yet also “hinges on whether the
recipient should have reasonably understood that a solicitation was made.”15 This
guidance is hardly a model of clarity.

Were the speech at issue direct and clear—had the Trump campaign
committee, for instance, sent out letters to specific individuals asking the recipients
to each give $100,000 to America First Action and directed them to a webpage to
make the contribution—this lack of clarity would have been largely immaterial. But
the speech at issue here was neither direct nor clear: it was a press statement directed
to no one in particular, bearing none of the hallmarks of a traditional fundraising

10 See Statement of Comm’r Weintraub on the Senate’s Votes to Restore the Federal Election
Commission to Full Strength, Dec. 9, 2020.

11 Statement of Reasons of Comm’r Weintraub at 3, MURs 7340/7609, June 11, 2021.
1211 C.F.R. § 300.2(m) (emphasis supplied).

13 Id.

14 Statement of Reasons of Comm’rs Hunter and Petersen at 8, MUR 6798 (Vitter), Aug. 30, 2019.

15 Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13926, 13928, Mar. 20, 2006.



solicitation. A reasonable person reading this statement would not have likely
understood it as a request for contributions. Enforcement against this statement
could have risked opening our regulation, which purports to police “indirect” “clear
messages,” to a judicial challenge predicated on “the constitutional requirement of
definiteness.”’® Rather than spend significant resources to litigate these questions,
all while risking both this enforcement decision and the viability of the underlying
regulation, we elected to exercise our prosecutorial discretion.

Moreover, public policy considerations militated in favor of exercising our
discretion. The statement at issue here is perhaps best read as a warning against
groups active during the 2020 election cycle considered, by the Committee, to be
“deceptive[]” fraudsters only “interested in filling their own pockets.” The statement
went so far as to “encourage the appropriate authorities to investigate all alleged
scam groups for potential illegal activities.”

Sadly, despite our repeated requests to Congress, we are not such an
authority.17 And it would be unwise to suggest that efforts to distinguish fraudulent
organizations from bona fide political committees might lead to Commission
enforcement. Such warnings should be encouraged, not chilled.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we voted to dismiss this allegation pursuant to our
prosecutorial discretion under Heckler v. Chaney.18

j J November 1, 2023

Sean J. Cooksey Date
Vice Chairman

November 1, 2023

Aller}/ Dickerson Date
Commnissioner

16 Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 77 (1976) (per curiam). See also NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 438
(1963) (“Precision of regulation must be the touchstone in an area so closely touching our most
precious freedoms”).

17 See 52 U.S.C. § 30124.

18470 U.S. 821 (1985).
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	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates your clients, Donald J. Trump, Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy of the complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7609. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
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	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	This is in response to your request for an extension to respond to the complaint filed in the above mentioned matter we received via e-mail on May 21, 2019. After considering the circumstances in this matter, the Office of General Counsel has granted the requested extension.  Accordingly, your clients’ responses are due on or before the close of business June 21, 2018. If you have any questions, you may contact me by 
	phone 202-694-1539 or at cela@fec.gov. 
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	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Treasurer Bradley T. Crate (collectively, “the Campaign”) respectfully request that the Commission dismiss the Complaint in the above-captioned Matter Under Review.  The Complaint asserts that the Campaign either “solicited” (as defined under 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)) or “directed” (as defined under 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(n)) non-federal funds when it simply identified an independent outside group, America First Action, as a known and trusted organization in a public statement
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	C.F.R. § 300.2(m).  Furthermore, to “direct” a donation to a recipient, there must be “a person [who] has already expressed an intent to make a contribution or donation, but lacks the identity of an appropriate” recipient.  Explanation & Justification, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,932; see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(n).  A statement issued to the general public, therefore, cannot “direct” donations.  
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	At the time the Complaint in MUR 7340 was received, Anthony W. Parker was the treasurer of the Republican National Committee, but the current treasurer is Ronald C. Kaufman. See Republican National Committee Amended Statement of Organization at 3 (Oct. 30, 2019). 
	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) 
	First General Counsel’s Report Page 2 of 31 
	1 COMPLAINANTS: 2 3 4 5 RESPONDENTS: 6 7 8 9 RELEVANT STATUTES 
	10 AND REGULATIONS: 
	11 
	12 
	13 
	14 
	15 
	16 
	17 
	18 INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: 
	19 
	20 FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: 
	21 
	22 I. INTRODUCTION 
	Campaign Legal Center 
	End Citizens United PAC 
	Tiffany Muller
	                                         President Donald J. Trump 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer 
	52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) 52 U.S.C. § 30116 52 U.S.C. § 30118 52 U.S.C. § 30125(a), (e) 11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b) 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b), (c), and (m) 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 11 C.F.R. § 300.64(b)(2)(i) 
	Disclosure Reports 
	None 
	23 The Complaint filed in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and his authorized 24 campaign committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. (“Trump Committee”) established, 25 financed, maintained, or controlled (“EFMC’d”) America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 26 501(c)(4) organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure27 only political committee (“IEOPC”), and that both organizations allegedly solicited, received, 28 and spent soft money in violation of the Federal Ele
	-
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	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 3 of 31 
	1 solicited soft money for AF Policies and AF Action as an agent of Vice President Pence and his 2 leadership PAC, Great America Committee (“GAC”), which thus allegedly received and spent 3 soft money in violation of the Act.  Finally, the Complaint in MUR 7340 alleges that 4 AF Policies made expenditures for polling in coordination with the Trump campaign, which 5 therefore accepted and failed to report an excessive and prohibited corporate in-kind 6 contribution.7 AF Policies, AF Action, and the Trump Com
	3
	4 
	5

	10 solicited, received, or spent soft money for AF Action or AF Policies on behalf of a federal 11 candidate or officeholder; and (3) AF Policies did not coordinate with the Trump campaign 12 regarding polling.GAC argues that the allegations against it do not establish a violation.13 The Complainants in MUR 7340 later filed a supplement to their complaint (“MUR 7340 14 Supplemental Complaint”) to provide additional information in the form of a public statement by 15 the Trump Committee that warns against “s
	6
	7 
	8 

	See id. ¶¶ 101-136. See id. ¶¶ 137-145. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 3-5 (Apr. 30, 2018); MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4 (Apr. 30, 2018); 
	3 
	4 
	5 

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 3 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	respondents, President Trump, Vice President Pence, Obst, MO Strategies, Parscale, and Parscale Strategy did not submit responses. 
	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 4 of 31 
	1 outside non-campaign group, America First Action.”  The Complainants allege that this 2 statement further supports their prior allegations as well as constitutes an independent violation 3 by soliciting funds outside the federal limits and prohibitions.  A separate complaint, filed in 4 MUR 7609, makes the similar allegation that this statement violates the Act by soliciting and 5 directing contributions outside the limits and prohibitions of the Act in violation of 52 U.S.C. 6 7 The Trump Committee repli
	9
	§ 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61.
	10 
	11 

	10 As discussed below, we recommend that the Commission dismiss the allegations in the 11 original MUR 7340 Complaint that Respondents violated the soft money provisions of 52 U.S.C. 12 § 30125, dismiss the allegation that AF Policies violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30118, and 13 dismiss the allegation that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116, 30118, and 14 30104(b) by making, accepting, and failing to report, respectively, excessive and prohibited in15 kind contributions.  Finally, we recommend
	-

	MUR 7609 Compl. (May 9, 2019). 
	10 

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. (June 21, 2019); MUR 7609 Trump Committee Resp. (June 21, 2019). The RNC also filed a Supplemental Response in MUR 7340 stating that the Supplemental Complaint’s “allegations are directed at other respondents” and that it “does not provide any new information pertaining to the original complaint’s allegations against the RNC.”  MUR 7340 RNC Supp. Resp. (June 6, 2019).  AF Action and AF Policies also responded to the Supplemental Complaint, stating that AF Action had no k
	11 

	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 5 of 31 
	1 MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the Complaint in MUR 7609, and enter into pre2 probable cause conciliation with the Trump Committee. 3 II. FACTS 4 AF Policies is a 501(c)(4) nonprofit organization, incorporated on January 27, 2017; it is 5   Brian O. Walsh, president of AF 6 Policies, reportedly stated that “America First Policies exists for one reason:  to support the 7 President of the United States and his agenda.”According to news reports cited by the MUR 8 7340 Complaint, the organization was fou
	-
	not registered with the Commission as a political committee.
	12
	13 
	including Parscale.
	14

	10 “largely inactive” and had no board of directors until April 2017, when it named its board and 11 Walsh avers that he has never held a position with the Trump 
	15
	appointed Walsh as president.
	16 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1; Aff. of Brian O. Walsh (president of AF Policies) ¶¶ 1, 3. 
	12 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
	13 
	lewandowki html
	https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/21/us/politics/trump-stepien
	-


	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19.  In addition to Parscale, the other reported founders of AF Policies were Trump’s 2016 deputy campaign managers Rick Gates and David Bossie, campaign advisors Nicholas Ayers and Marty Obst, and senior campaign advisor Katrina Pierson. Id. 
	14 

	AF Policies did not report any activity to the Commission until June 6, 2017, when it made independent expenditures opposing the candidacy of Jonathan Ossoff for Congress. AF Policies 24-Hour Report (June 7, 2017). 
	15 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1-2; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 3; see also MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2. AF Policies states that its original Board of Directors consisted of Nicholas Ayers, Douglas Ammerman and Thomas Hicks, Jr.  Subsequently, Roy Bailey replaced Ayers, who had taken a position in the Trump administration in July 2017, and Harold Hamm replaced Ammerman, who had resigned in November 2017. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 2, n.1. 
	16 

	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 6 of 31 
	1 AF Policies has made independent expenditures in federal 2 elections3 The committee was 4 founded in April 2017 at the direction of AF Policies president Walsh, who also became 5 Its original directors were Walsh, Nicholas Ayers (who also served as 6 7 AF Action, as an IEOPC, has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise 8 would be in excess of contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; 9 AF Action reported more than $1.2 million in independent expendi
	campaign or administration.
	17 
	18 
	and, according to the MUR 7340 Complaint, has also solicited soft money.
	19 
	AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.
	20 
	president of AF Action.
	21 
	a director of AF Policies), and Jon Proch (who also serves as AF Action’s treasurer).
	22 

	10 elections in 2017.11 The RNC is a national party committee of the Republican Party. The Trump Committee 12 is Trump’s principal campaign committee for president. In February 2018, Parscale, who was 13 also the Digital and Data Director for the 2016 Trump campaign, was named campaign manager 
	23 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 2. 
	17 

	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.
	18 
	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent expenditures). 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id.  For its part, AF Policies denies that Parscale solicited donors, but does not address whether as an organization it has solicited or accepted soft money.  MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 8. 
	19 

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1; see AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). 
	20 

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 3. 
	21 

	Ayers resigned in July 2017 to join the Trump administration as Pence’s chief of staff.  Proch also resigned as a director and now serves only as treasurer of AF Action. MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2, n.1.  Ayers and Proch were replaced on AF Action’s Board by Roy Bailey and Thomas Hicks, Jr., who also serve as AF Policies directors.  MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2.  In addition to overlapping officers and directors, AF Action and AF Policies share the same counsel, the same address, and the bylaws of each a
	22 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	23 

	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 7 of 31 
	1 In its response, the Trump Committee denies that it has any 2 3 Parscale Strategy,  At 4 various times, Parscale Strategy has been retained as a consultant by AF Policies, AF Action, the 5 Trump Committee, and the RNC.AF Action and AF Policies state that their contracts with 6   The 7 RNC has continued to contract with Parscale Strategy. 8 Marty Obst is the owner of MO Strategies, Inc.,and was a campaign advisor to Trump 9 in 2016.MO Strategies was 
	for the 2020 Trump campaign.
	24 
	role in the governance or activities of AF Policies or AF Action.
	25 
	 LLC is a political consulting firm owned by Bradley Parscale.
	26
	27 
	Parscale Strategy were terminated when Parscale was named 2020 campaign manager.
	28
	29 
	30
	  Complainants also assert that he was a founder of AF Policies.
	31 

	10 GAC, a leadership PAC 
	hired by AF Policies and AF Action for fundraising consulting.
	32 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 12; MUR 7340 RNC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 30, 2018).  Reports filed with the Commission indicate that Parscale was on payroll for the 2016 Trump campaign and that another firm in which he is a partner, Giles-Parscale, was the number one recipient of disbursements from the 2016 Trump campaign, receiving nearly $88 million in disbursements. See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, .  On July 15, 2020, Trump announced that he was replacing Parscale as campaign manager,
	24 
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016

	https://www.facebook.com/DonaldTrump/posts/10165094743505725
	https://www.facebook.com/DonaldTrump/posts/10165094743505725


	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 3. 
	25 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 37. 
	26 

	See MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 7; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4; MUR 7340 RNC Resp. at 9. 
	27 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5. 
	28 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 42. 
	29 

	Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS (Jan. 30, 2017), ).  While Trump Committee reports filed with the Commission do not indicate any disbursements to either Obst or MO Strategies, multiple media reports have noted Obst’s role as a campaign advisor, and this role appears to be confirmed by Obst’s LinkedIn profile. See Marty Obst, LINKEDIN, (last visited Nov. 23, 2020). 
	30 
	https://apnews.com/77133d470c634a458b3198063af4a14b
	https://apnews.com/77133d470c634a458b3198063af4a14b

	https://www.linkedin.com/in/marty-obst-92611322 
	https://www.linkedin.com/in/marty-obst-92611322 


	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 13. 
	31 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5.  While the responses of AF Policies and AF Action do not indicate when they first retained MO Strategies, Commission reports indicate that AF Action 
	32 

	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 8 of 31 
	1 established by Pence, also made disbursements to MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy 2 consulting.”GAC’s response in this matter admits that it disbursed “in excess of $220,000 3 (inclusive of reimbursements) to MO Strategies, Inc.,” but does not describe the scope of Obst’s 4 work, except to deny that Obst was GAC’s “founder” as 5 Since the 2016 election, the MUR 7340 Complaint alleges, the RNC has expended 6 The RNC 7 acknowledges the reduction, but states that this is a result of its extens
	33 
	alleged in the MUR 7340 Complaint.
	34 
	significantly less on polling than it has during previous Republican administrations.
	35 
	kinds of data that have replaced much of its need for traditional polling.
	36

	10   On the other hand, AF Policies has reportedly spent extensively 11 on polling regarding Trump and his policies and it has made much of this data available through 12 what the MUR 7340 Complaint characterizes as an “obscure” link on AF Policies’
	for his reelection campaign.
	37
	 homepage.
	38 

	first reported a disbursement to MO Strategies on Aug. 9, 2017. See AF Action 2017 Year-End Report at 94 (Jan. 23, 2018). MUR 7340 GAC Resp. at 1; see, e.g., GAC 2017 Year-End Report at 94-96 (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	33 

	MUR 7340 GAC Resp. at 1; see MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 34. MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 49; Christina Wilkie, Dark Money Group America First Policies Is Running a Pro-Trump Polling Operation, CNBC (Mar. 1, 2018) (“Wilkie, Dark Money”), 
	34 
	35 

	https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/01/america-first-policies-dark-money-polling-for-trump html. 
	https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/01/america-first-policies-dark-money-polling-for-trump html. 
	https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/01/america-first-policies-dark-money-polling-for-trump html. 


	Wilkie, Dark Money (quoting an RNC official stating, “Since 2013, we’ve spent $250 million to gather information through voter scoring, and we have a huge amount of information that informs these scores. . . .  So, we don’t really pay for traditional polling anymore.  We rely on this data, instead.”). 
	36 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money).  Trump Committee disclosure reports indicate one expenditure for “polling expenses” through mid-2018 to Gage Group – G2 Analytics for $74,583. Trump Committee 2017 April Quarterly Report at 54969 (July 20, 2017). 
	37 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 45-50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money (reporting that AF Policies admitted to sharing their polling and putting it up on their homepage, but then removed much of the polling data from the website after being asked about it by CNBC)).  The polling information could be found by following a small link at the bottom of AF Policies’ homepage link entitled “data.”  See . AF Action also posts polling information in a similar fashion. See . 
	38 
	/
	https://www.americafirstpolicies.org/data

	/
	https://www.a1apac.org/data
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	1 The MUR 7340 Complaint alleges that AF Policies has used several polling firms with 
	2 relationships to the Trump Committee, including a polling firm that was owned by Trump’s 2016 
	3 
	campaign manager Kellyanne Conway.
	39 

	4 On May 7, 2019, the Trump Committee issued a statement criticizing “scam groups” 
	5 raising funds by “deceptively us[ing] the President’s name, likeness, trademarks, or branding.”
	40 

	6 The statement continued, asserting that: 
	7 There are only four official fundraising organizations 8 authorized by President Trump or the RNC: Donald J. Trump for 9 President, the Republican National Committee, and two joint 
	10 fundraising committees with the RNC, The Make America Great 11 Again Committee (TMAGAC) and Trump Victory. In addition, 12 there is one approved outside non-campaign group, America First 13 Action, which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted 14 15 16 The MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the MUR 7609 Complaint allege that, via 
	supporter of President Trump’s policies and agendas.
	41 

	17 this statement, the Trump Committee solicited funds for or directed funds to AF Action without 
	18   The Trump Committee responds that its 
	limiting this solicitation or direction to hard money.
	42

	19 statement was not a solicitation or direction to contribute to AF Action but rather it “merely 
	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 46.  Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using it. Id. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3; MUR 7609 Compl. at 5-8. 
	39 
	40 
	41 
	42 
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	1 provid[ed] the identity of an appropriate recipient, without any attempt to motivate another 2 person to contribute or donate funds.”3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 A. The Commission Should Dismiss the Allegation that Trump or the Trump 
	43 

	5 Committee Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Establishing, Financing, 6 Maintaining, or Controlling AF Policies or AF Action 7 8 The Complaint in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and the Trump Committee 
	9 violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by establishing, financing, maintaining, or 10 controlling AF Policies and AF Action, which solicited, received, and spent soft money.  In 11 support of its allegation, the MUR 7340 Complaint, relying on media reports, makes six 12 assertions: (1) that Kellyanne Conway, former 2016 Trump campaign manager, publicly stated 13 that an organization will be formed and needs to be run by someone “close to the President”;14 (2) that AF Policies was founded by a grou
	44 
	45 
	46 
	47 

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (quoting Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13,926, 13,933 (Mar. 20, 2006) (“Solicitation E&J”)). MUR 7609 Trump Committee Resp. (same).  The Trump Committee and AF Action/AF Policies Responses also note that the Complainant, Paul S. Ryan, publicly stated that “[p]ointing to a super Pac and saying, ‘That’s the one I approve of’ doesn’t break the law.” MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (citing Zach Montellaro, POLITICO (May 8, 2019), 
	43 

	); MUR 7340 AF Action/AF Policies Resp. at 2 (same). MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 88. Id. ¶ 90; see supra n.14. Id. ¶ 89. Id. ¶¶ 23, 90, 93. 
	pac-614412
	https://www.politico.com/newsletters/morning-score/2019/05/08/wheres-the-line-between-a-campaign-and-super
	-
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	1 campaign based on a media report of a number of individuals including Parscale and 2 Lewandowski meeting with White House staff regarding the 2018 mid-term elections; and (6) 3 the Trump Committee’s statement that AF Action is its “one approved outside non-campaign 4 group.”5 AF Policies’ response does not address who its founders were, but provides information 6 about the membership of its Board of Directors from two months after its founding.  Only one of 7 the reported “founders” of AF Policies actuall
	48
	49 
	50 

	10 also provide sworn declarations of the first and only president of AF Policies and AF Action, 11 Brian O. Walsh, who states that he has never held any role with the Trump campaign or 12 13 AF Policies and AF Action both note that their corporate bylaws give no authority to 14   According to 15 the affidavit of Walsh, the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or 
	administration.
	51 
	Trump or his campaign to direct or participate in the governance of the entities.
	52

	Id. ¶ 94. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 2, n.1; see also Vice President Pence (@VP), TWITTER (July 28, 2017 
	48 
	49 
	50 

	11:37 AM), (“Congrats to @Nick_Ayers for being sworn-in as my Chief of Staff.  Excited to welcome you & great having your family at @WhiteHouse today.”). 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 


	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 2; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 2. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1-2; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1-2. 
	51 
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	1 other decision-making employees” of AF Policies and AF Action resides with Walsh and the 2 3 The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 4 or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of one or 5 more candidates or individuals holding federal office, from “solicit[ing], receiv[ing], direct[ing], 6 transfer[ing], or spend[ing] funds in connection with an election for Federal office . . . unless the 7 funds are subject 
	Board of Directors.
	53 
	54 
	55 

	10 To determine whether a candidate or his or her agent “directly or indirectly establishes, 11 finances, maintains, or controls” an entity, the Commission considers a non-exhaustive list of ten 12 factors set forth in 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2), including: (1) whether the candidate or his agent has 13 the authority to “direct or participate in the governance of the entity through provisions of 14 constitutions, bylaws, contracts, or other rules, or through formal or informal practices or 15 procedures”;(2) wh
	56 
	57 

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4; Aff. of Walsh ¶¶ 5, 10; MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5; Aff. of Walsh ¶¶ 5, 10.  No Respondent explained who had decision-making authority prior to the installation of AF Policies’ Board of Directors several months after its founding or who installed that board. 
	53 

	52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.61. McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 133 (2003). 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(ii). Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(iii). 
	54 
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	1 indicate “a formal or ongoing relationship” between the candidate or his agent and the entity;2 (4) whether directly or through its agent, the candidate had an “active or significant role in the 3 formation of the entity”;as well as any other relevant factors, in the context of the overall 4 5 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 6 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 7 any election.”  Th
	58 
	59 
	relationship between the federal candidate or officeholder, or his agent, and the entity.
	60 
	61
	62 

	10 The establishment of AF Policies was allegedly effected by a group of “founders” who 11   Considering their 12 titles, including two deputy campaign managers (Rick Gates and David Bossie), it appears likely 13 that at least some of these founders were agents of Trump and the Trump Committee during the 14 2016   But the available information is insufficient to support a reasonable inference 
	previously held high-ranking positions with the 2016 Trump campaign.
	63
	campaign.
	64

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(v), (vi). 
	58 

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(ix). 
	59 

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2); see Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo) at 3. 
	60 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,975-76 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”); Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	61 

	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
	62 

	See supra n.14. 
	63 

	Notably, no facts have been asserted establishing what, if any, role these individuals had in the 2020 Trump campaign (other than Parscale, who became campaign manager in February 2018), or whether any agency authority that was established in the 2016 campaign still existed after that election, or particularly on January 27, 2017, when AF Policies was formed. 
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	1 that any of these individuals was acting at the direction of Trump or the Trump Committee when 2 they reportedly formed AF Policies in January 2017.  Parscale was the only one of the reported 3 founders on the payroll of the Trump Committee around the time that AF Policies was formed. 4 His last paycheck was dated four days after the founding of AF Policies but appears to be for a 5 partial pay period as it is about half of the amount he was paid bi-weekly for the prior bi-weekly 6   Thus, it appears his 
	periods.
	65

	10 11 As for AF Action, it was formed by Walsh, who is not alleged to be an agent of Trump or 12 the Trump Committee.  One of AF Action’s original board members, Ayers, worked on the 2016 13 Trump campaign and was potentially therefore an agent of Trump and the Trump Committee in 14 2016, but the available information does not support the claim that he continued to be an agent of 15 Trump or the Trump Committee in April 2017 when AF Action was established.   16 As noted above, the Trump Committee and AF Pol
	contributions on behalf of the Trump Committee.
	66 

	See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, . Thereafter, Parscale’s firm continued to receive disbursements from the Trump Committee. Id. 
	65 
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016


	The MUR 7340 Complaint’s suggestion that Trump established AF Policies by hiring Parscale to lead it via Jared Kushner’s “blessing” is conclusory and unsupported. See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 15.  Even assuming that Kushner was an agent of Trump, the media report alone does not support a reasonable inference that Kushner had the “authority or ability to hire” Parscale for a job at an entity that did not exist at that point. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,978, n.6 (“Specifically, it is not enough that there is so
	66 
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	1 by all three entities, was employed in high-ranking positions by both the 2016 and 2020 Trump 2 campaigns and was a reported founder of AF Policies.  Lewandowski has also held positions 3 with both the Trump Committee in 2016, as campaign manager, and with AF Policies and AF 4 Action, as a consultant.  A number of other individuals including Ayers also had roles with the 5 Trump Committee in 2016 and were allegedly founders of AF Policies.  But as the Commission 6 has stated previously, “more than the mer
	67 

	10 formal or ongoing relationship.”  The attestation that Ayers left his position at AF Policies 11 when he joined the administration indicates the end of a formal relationship with an overlapping 12 AF Policies’ and AF Action’s decision to terminate the contract of Parscale’s firm 13 when he was named Trump’s 2020 campaign manager further undermines the existence of a 14 15 Moreover, “while former employers and colleagues may exercise influence, influence is 16 not necessarily control.”  Here, formal contr
	68
	employee.
	69 
	formal relationship by not retaining, even as a vendor, an employee of the Trump Committee.
	70 
	71

	Factual & Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 8, MUR 6280 (Howard L. Berman). 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(v). MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 2, n.1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2, n.1. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6, n.4; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 16; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5, n.5; Aff. of 
	67 
	68 
	69 
	70 

	Walsh ¶ 16. F&LA at 8, MUR 6280. 
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	1 organization, and there is no information indicating that hiring did not occur in accordance 2 with this stated process. 3 Finally, Complainants note in the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint that the allegation 4 that Trump and the Trump Committee violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by 5 establishing, financing, maintaining, or controlling AF Policies and AF Action is supported by 6 the additional evidence that the Trump Committee made a public statement regarding 7 fundraising, stating that AF A
	72
	73 

	10 
	establish that the AF Action was EFMC’d by Trump or the Trump Committee.
	74 

	11 In short, the available information is insufficient to give rise to a reasonable inference 
	12 that AF Policies or AF Action was established, financed, maintained, or controlled by Trump or 
	13 the Trump Committee.  Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission dismiss these 
	14 allegations that AF Policies, AF Action, Trump, and the Trump Committee have violated          
	15 52 U.S.C. § 30125.  
	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 5; see supra n.66; F&LA at 4, MUR 7070 (Congressional Leadership Fund, et al.) (“However, the quoted statement that ‘Fink was personally approached by House Speaker Paul Ryan to take the job’ does not, by itself, support a reasonable inference that Ryan had the ‘authority or ability to hire’ Fink under section 300.2(c)(2)(iii).”); cf. Advisory Op. 2003-12 (Flake) (concluding that a candidate “established” an entity for purposes of 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2) on t
	72 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 1-4. 
	73 

	Among the EFMC factors set forth in the Commission’s regulations is that a candidate or officeholder “causes or arranges for funds in a significant amount or on an ongoing basis to be provided to the entity.”  11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(viii).  In the present matter, AF Action disclosed the receipt of contributions totaling $2.7 million in the month before the Trump Committee statement and $1.3 million in the month after the statement. See AF Action 2019 Mid-Year Report (July 31, 2019). 
	74 
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	1 B. The Commission Should Dismiss the Allegation that Trump, the Trump 2 Committee, or the RNC Though Their Agent, Brad Parscale, Violated 52 3 U.S.C. § 30125 by Raising Soft Money for AF Policies or AF Action 4 5 The MUR 7340 Complaint alleges, “[b]ased on published reports,” that Parscale solicited 
	6 7 While the Act restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal 8 funds, “[it] does not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from also raising non9 federal funds for other political parties or outside groups.”  The Commission has also observed 
	soft money for AF Policies and AF Action as an agent of Trump or the Trump Committee.
	75 
	-
	76

	10 that individuals who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate committee must 
	11 solicit non-federal funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request 
	12 or suggestion’ of federal candidates.”
	77 

	13 Assuming, arguendo, that Parscale was an agent of the Trump Committee at some time 
	14 after the formation of AF Policies and before being named Trump’s campaign manager in 2018, 
	15 the record does not support a reasonable inference that Parscale solicited funds for either 
	16 AF Policies or AF Action.  Both AF Policies and AF Action dispute that he has ever been 
	17 authorized to solicit funds for them.  AF Policies explains that Parscale, through his company, 
	18 Likewise, AF Action 
	provided digital and online consulting services, not fundraising services.
	78 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 111; see also id. ¶¶ 33, 37 (detailing reported disbursements to Parscale’s company for “digital fundraising consulting,” among other purposes). 
	75 

	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979. 
	76 

	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (“AO 2015-09”) (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform pot
	77 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 16. 
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	1 states that Parscale, through his company, provided digital and online consulting services, 2 including services related to AF Action’s digital fundraising activities, but that he did not 3 In neither case does the available information indicate otherwise. 4 Accordingly, because the available information fails to give rise to a reasonable inference that a 5 violation has occurred, we recommend that the Commission dismiss these allegations that 6 Trump, the Trump Committee, Bradley Parscale, and Parscale S
	directly solicit donors.
	79 

	10 than $2 million for management consulting.”The Act prohibits a national committee of a 11 12 The RNC responds that Pascale was not a fundraising agent of the RNC because his 13 firm’s consulting work did not include soliciting contributions (though he did advise the RNC 14 regarding its online fundraising),and that its contract with Parscale explicitly prohibits him 15 from raising non-federal funds on behalf of the RNC.  Moreover, as noted above, AF Policies 16 and AF Action deny that Parscale solicited
	80 
	political party and any agent acting on behalf of such a committee from soliciting soft money.
	81 
	82 
	83

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5, 7; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 16. MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 129. 52 U.S.C. § 30125(a). MUR 7340 RNC Resp. at 9. MUR 7340 RNC Resp. at 2-3 (quoting Parscale Strategy’s contract: “Independent Contractor is not an 
	79 
	80 
	81 
	82 
	83 

	agent of the RNC and expressly agrees not to represent itself as an agent of the RNC in the course of, or in connection with, the raising of any Non-Federal Funds.”). 
	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Great America Committee, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 19 of 31 
	1 recommend that the Commission dismiss the allegation that the RNC, Bradley Parscale, and 2 Parscale Strategy, LLC violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(a). 3 C. The Commission Should Dismiss the Allegation that Pence and his 
	4 Leadership PAC, GAC, Through Their Agent, Marty Obst, Violated 52 5 U.S.C. § 30125 by Raising Soft Money for AF Policies or AF Action 6 7 We recommend a similar disposition regarding the MUR 7340 Complaint’s allegations 
	8 concerning non-federal fundraising by Marty Obst as an agent of Pence and GAC.  Obst, through 
	9 contracts with his company MO Strategies, conducted fundraising for AF Policies and AF 10   And it is possible that Obst, through his company, solicited funds for GAC, which 11 admits that it retained MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting” but does not 12 13 Despite the Complaint’s assertions of Obst’s agency to raise funds for AF Policies and 14 AF Action on behalf of Pence or GAC, the record includes no specific information indicating 15 that any of the fundraising that MO Strategie
	Action.
	84
	state whether that work entailed soliciting contributions.
	85 

	84 
	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5. 
	85 
	MUR 7340 GAC Resp. at 1; see, e.g., GAC July 2017 Mid-Year Report at 65 (July 31, 2017) (indicating a $62,500 disbursement to MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting”). 
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	1 party committee.”No information in the record indicates that Obst or MO Strategies acted 2 otherwise.  Accordingly, because the available information fails to give rise to a reasonable 3 inference that a violation has occurred, we recommend that the Commission dismiss the 4 allegation that Pence, GAC, Marty Obst, and MO Strategies, Inc. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 
	86 

	5 D. The Commission Should Dismiss the Allegation that AF Policies or the 6 Trump Committee Violated the Act by Making or Receiving, Respectively, 7 Unreported Contributions in the Form of Coordinated Expenditures 
	8 The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that AF Policies conducted polls on voter perceptions 
	9 of Trump and his policies in coordination with the Trump Committee, resulting in an unreported 10 The Complaint bases its allegation on 11 the following facts: (1) the Trump Committee reported no disbursements for polling during the 12 relevant period, and the RNC’s reported polling expenses decreased relative to prior years during 13 the relevant period;(2) AF Policies used a polling firm owned by presidential advisor 14 Kellyanne Conway;(3) AF Policies consultants Parscale and Lewandowski reportedly att
	and excessive in-kind contribution to the Committee.
	87 
	88 
	89 
	90

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 7-8; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 18; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 7; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 18. MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 137-145. 
	86 
	87 

	Id. ¶¶ 49-50, 144. Id. ¶ 46.  Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using it. Id. 
	88 
	89 

	Id. ¶ 139. 
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	1 posted the polling results at a relatively obscure link on its website and took the results down 2 3 AF Policies and the Trump Committee deny any coordination.  AF Policies does not deny 4 that Parscale or Lewandowski attended the reported meeting at the White House, but states that 5 their attendance was not at the direction of AF Policies and that no officer or director of 6   Moreover, they note that there is no available information 7 8 Under the Commission’s regulations, any expenditures that are mad
	after reporters inquired about the polls.
	91 
	AF Policies was at the meeting.
	92
	indicating that the polling conducted by AF Policies was discussed.
	93 

	10 authorized committee, but that are not coordinated communications, party coordinated 11 communications, or coordinated party expenditures, are in-kind contributions to the candidate 12 13 The available information is not sufficient to support the conclusion that AF Policies and 14 the Trump campaign coordinated in connection with the polling as alleged in the MUR 7340 15 Complaint.  Specifically, the available information is insufficient to demonstrate that AF Policies 16 and the Trump campaign acted in 
	and must be reported as an expenditure by that candidate.
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	Id. ¶¶ 47-48. 
	91 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 9, n.5. 
	92 

	Id. at 9. 
	93 

	11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(7)(B); see also 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b) (describing circumstances in which non-connected committee’s purchase of poll results to make expenditures and candidate committee’s subsequent acceptance of poll results is in-kind contribution to that candidate committee); Campaign Guide for Nonconnected Committees at 25, (“a committee makes an in-kind contribution when it: Pays for consulting, polling or printing services provided to a candidate committee”).  
	94 
	https://www fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/nongui.pdf 
	https://www fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/nongui.pdf 
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	1 company of Trump’s advisor, Conway, in the polling, it presents no allegation that Conway had 2 any personal knowledge of or involvement in AF Policies’ polling activity. Nor is there enough 3 information to conclude that AF Policies made an in-kind contribution to the Trump campaign 4 by sharing the results of the polling.  Although the MUR 7340 Complaint notes that the polling 5 results were published online, it presents insufficient information to conclude that the Trump 6 Committee accessed those resu
	online information to the Trump Committee.
	95 

	10 §§ 30116 and 30118 by making prohibited and excessive in-kind contributions and that the 11 Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116, 30118, and 30104(b) by accepting and failing to 12 report prohibited or excessive in-kind contributions. 
	In MUR 6908 (NRCC) the NRCC tweeted coded polling data on Twitter accounts which did not appear to be affiliated with the NRCC.  First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt., MUR 6908 (NRCC).  The Office of General Counsel recommended finding reason to believe that this data was not “publicly available” and that therefore the polling results were in-kind contributions and provided for the purpose of furthering expenditures and also that Respondents coordinated their activities and thereby made and accepted prohibited, excessi
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	1 E. The Commission Should Find Reason to Believe that the Trump Committee 2 Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Soliciting Soft Money Via the Committee’s 3 Statement Issued May 7, 2019 4 5 Finally, the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the MUR 7609 Complaint allege 
	6 that a statement issued by the Trump Committee solicited soft money for or directed soft money 7 8 The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 9 or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of federal 
	contributions to AF Action in violation of section 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61.
	96 

	10 candidates and officeholders, from soliciting funds in connection with a federal election “unless 11 the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of the Act.”12 The Act limits contributions to non-authorized, non-party committees to $5,000 in any calendar 13 year.  Although an IEOPC may accept contributions from corporations and individuals without 14 regard to that $5,000 limitation, federal officeholders and candidates may only solicit up to 15 $5,000 from permissi
	97 
	98
	99
	100 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl.; MUR 7609 Compl.; see 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e); 11 C.F.R. 300.61. 
	96 

	See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ 300.60, 300.61. 
	97 

	52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(1)(C). 
	98 

	 FEC, 599 F.3d 686, 696 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (en banc) (holding that contribution limits are unconstitutional as applied to individuals’ contributions to political committees that only make independent expenditures); Advisory Op. 2010-11 (Common Sense Ten) (“AO 2010-11”) (concluding that corporations, labor organizations, political committees, and individuals may each make unlimited contributions to IEOPCs). 
	99 
	See SpeechNow.org v.

	See Advisory Op. 2011-12 (Majority PAC) at 3 (“AO 2011-12”) (determining that solicitation restrictions under 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A) remain applicable to contributions solicited by federal candidates, officeholders, and other covered persons); Conciliation Agreement ¶ ¶ 7, 8, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (“CA”) (same); F&LA at 11, MURs 6563 and 6733 (Rep. Aaron Schock). 
	100 
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	1 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”  The regulation further 2 provides that a “solicitation” is “an oral or written communication that, construed as reasonably 3 understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or 4 recommending that another person make a contribution” and “may be made directly or 5 indirectly” but “does not include mere statements of political support.”6 In 2006, the Commission revised the definition of “to soli
	101
	102 
	103 

	10 explained that the revision is broad in order to “ensure[] that candidates and parties may not, 11 implicitly and indirectly, raise unregulated funds for either themselves, or subject to statutory 12 exceptions, ‘friendly outsiders.’”The Commission further stated:  “By covering implicit and 13 indirect requests and recommendations, the new definition forecloses parties and candidates from 14 using circumlocutions ‘that make their intentions clear without overtly “asking” for money’” and 15 “also squarely
	104 
	105 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Prohibited and Excessive Contributions: Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money, 67 Fed. Reg. 49,064, 49,086 (July 29, 2002) (defining “to solicit” as to “ask another person to make a contribution or donation, or transfer of funds, or to provide anything of value, including through a conduit or intermediary”). 
	101 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928 (Mar. 20, 2006). Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,927 (quoting Shays v. FEC, 414 F.3d 76, 104-06 (D.C. Cir. 2005)). Id. at 13,928 (quoting Shays, 414 F.3d at 106). 
	102 
	103 
	104 

	105 
	Id. 
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	1 The standard for determining whether a communication is a solicitation is objective and 2 does not turn on the subjective interpretations of the person making the communication or its 3 recipients.  This objective standard “hinges on whether the recipient should have reasonably 4 understood that a solicitation was made.”  The Commission has explained the that “[t]he 5 context of a communication is often important because words that would not, by their literal 6 meaning, convey a solicitation, may in some 
	106
	107
	108 
	109 

	10 The Trump Committee’s one-page “Statement on Dishonest Fundraising Groups” 11 “condemns any organization that deceptively uses the President’s name, likeness, trademarks or 12 branding and confuses voters.”The Statement continues, stating that “[t]here is no excuse for 13 any group, including ones run by people who claim to be part of our ‘coalition,’ to suggest they 
	110 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928. 
	106 

	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,929. 
	107 

	Solicitation E&J at 13929. For instance, it is not a solicitation for a candidate to simply state: “Joe, X is a very worthy organization.  It has always been very helpful to me.”  Id.  On the other hand, context could render the same statement by the candidate a solicitation.  For example, if Joe is introduced to the candidate by a fundraiser for the organization saying: “I’ve been trying to persuade Joe to commit to giving X another $50,000. Wouldn’t that be great, Senator?”, then, because of the context, 
	108 

	Id. (citing Phantom Touring, Inc. v. Affiliated Publ’ns, 953 F.2d 724, 727 (1st Cir. 1992) (providing as an example the point that no reasonable listener would understand a theater critic who wrote “[t]he producer who decided to charge admission for that show is committing highway robbery” to be accusing the producer of the actual crime of robbery)); see F&LA, MUR 6939 (Mike Huckabee, et al.); F&LA, MUR 7135 (Donald Trump for President Inc., et al.). 
	109 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
	110 
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	1 directly support President Trump’s re-election or any other candidates, when in fact their actions 2 show they are interested in filling their own pockets . . . .”3 The Trump Committee then identifies the “only four official fundraising organizations 4 authorized by President Trump and the RNC,” the Trump Committee itself, the RNC and two 5 joint fundraising committees, as well as “one approved outside non-campaign group, America 6 First Action, which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted sup
	111 
	112 

	10 read. In this context, which the statement itself expressly frames to be about “fundraising 11 organizations,” AF Action is identified as the “one approved outside non-campaign group” and 12 as a direct contrast to contributing to other outside groups that “suggest they directly support 13 President Trump’s re-election” where the contributor runs the risk of “filling [the groups’] own 14 pockets” instead.15 The Trump Committee asserts that it “merely provid[ed] the identity of an appropriate 16 recipient
	113 
	114

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. During the 2016 election cycle, 45 outside committees made independent expenditures in support of 
	111 
	112 
	113 

	Donald Trump, according to Commission records.  The Trump Committee in its statement identifies a single outside committee “approved” for the 2020 election. MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (quoting Solicitation E&J at 13,933). 
	114 
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	1 contributor could give.  First, the Trump Committee’s statement explains that there are a number 
	2 of unnamed groups to which individuals should not contribute because they are only “interested 
	3 in filling their own pockets.” Then it lists the four “authorized” groups and one outside 
	4 “approved” group.  The juxtaposition of these two statements is significant. Applying the 
	5 Commission’s objective test, and considering the context in which it is made, the statement as a 
	6 whole contains a clear message recommending that the reader contribute to the authorized and 
	7 approved fundraising organizations and not contribute to other groups.
	115 

	8 Moreover, the paragraph listing the authorized and approved groups begins “[t]here are 
	9 only four official fundraising organizations.”  Even though AF Action is also described as a 
	116

	10 “trusted supporter of President Trump’s policies and agendas,” the subject of the statement — 
	11 entitled “Trump Campaign Statement on Dishonest Fundraising Groups” — is not mere 
	12 electoral, legislative, or political support, but the financing of unidentified “[d]ishonest” groups 
	13 and five identified authorized or approved groups.  Accordingly, this statement, as a 
	117

	The language in the Trump Committee Statement is in line with several of the “solicitation” examples in the Commission’s regulations. See, e.g., 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(iii) (“Group X has always helped me financially in my elections.  Keep them in mind this fall”); (iii) (“Send all contributions to the following address * * * *”); (ix) (“You have reached the limit of what you may contribute directly to my campaign, but you can further help my campaign by assisting the State party.”). Compare First Gen. Coun
	115 
	Figure

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (emphasis added); MUR 7609 Compl. at 3 (same). 
	116 

	See Solicitation E&J at 13,928 (“The sheer number of interaction and similarity in the messages for these purposes may sometimes give rise to situations where a candidate’s request for electoral or legislative support is misconstrued as a request for financial support. . . .  Absent a requirement that a communication contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person provide funds or something of value, such a statement might be inappropriately captured by the definition of ‘to
	117 
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	1 reasonable person would understand it in its context, constitutes a recommendation to contribute 2 to AF Action and thus is a solicitation.3 If a federal candidate or an agent, such as a principal campaign committee, solicits money 4 to an IEOPC, that solicitation must comply with the Act’s amount and source limitations.The 5 Trump Committee statement contained no such limitation.  Indeed, as the sole “approved” 6 Trump-supporting IEOPC identified, the message conveys that AF Action is the only approved 7
	118 
	119 
	120 

	10 either by its express terms or otherwise (such as through a clear and conspicuous oral statement 11 or written notice) risks being understood as soliciting donations in amounts and from sources 12 prohibited under the Act. . . .”Indeed, Commission regulations provide guidance as to 13 language that can be included in a solicitation at a fundraising event so that it is appropriately 
	121 

	See F&LA at 2, 6, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (finding reason to believe that Cruz for President impermissibly solicited soft money when an agent of the committee told fundraiser attendees that “the method to our madness is this: you max out [to Respondent] and then get engaged in the Super PAC,” identifying a particular IEOPC with a table at the fundraiser); CA ¶ IV.5, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (same).  On the other hand, in AO 1984-02 the Commission approved of Friends of Phil Gramm (the authorized 
	118 

	52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(B); see AO 2011-12 at 4. 
	119 

	Advisory Op. 2010-11 (Commonsense Ten) at 2-3. 
	120 

	Participation by Federal Candidates and Officeholders a Non-Federal Fundraising Events. 75 Fed Reg. 24,375, 24,380 (May 5, 2010). 
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	1 
	1 
	limited to federal funds.122 
	The Trump Committee’s solicitation included no disclaimer or 

	2 
	2 
	restriction of any kind limiting the solicitation to federal funds, and its distinction between the 

	3 
	3 
	four “authorized” hard money recipients and AF Action as the “one outside non-campaign 

	4 
	4 
	group” conveys that AF Action is an IEOPC that may receive soft money by virtue of that status 

	5 
	5 
	as an “outside . . . group.”123 
	Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission find that there is 

	6 
	6 
	reason to believe that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. 

	7 
	7 
	§ 300.61 by soliciting soft money contributions to AF Action.124 


	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 
	See 11 C.F.R. § 300.64(b)(2)(i) (“A Federal candidate or officeholder may limit such a solicitation by displaying at the fundraising event a clear and conspicuous written notice, or making a clear and conspicuous oral statement, that the solicitation is not for Levin funds (when applicable), does not seek funds in excess of $ [Federally permissible amount], and does not seek funds from corporations, labor organizations, national banks, federal government contractors, or foreign nationals.”). 
	122 

	Notably, the donation page on AF Action’s website, includes a prefilled option to donate $20,000, an amount in excess of the hard money contribution limits. See . 
	123 
	https://secure.a1apac.org/donate

	124 
	The Complaint in MUR 7609 and the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint allege that the statement in question “solicits” and/or “directs” contributions in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e).  MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 9.  Because we conclude that there is reason to believe that the statement solicits contributions in violation of section 30125(e), it is unnecessary to engage in an additional analysis as to whether it also constitutes a direction of contributions in violation of the same sectio
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	3 V. RECOMMENDATIONS 
	4 
	4 
	4 
	1. Dismiss the allegation that Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President, 5 Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. 6 § 30125 by establishing, financing, maintaining, or controlling America First 7 Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc., which raised and spent soft money; 

	8 
	8 
	2. Dismiss the allegation that America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, 


	9 Inc. and Jon Proch in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 10 by accepting soft money contributions as organizations established, financed, 11 maintained, or controlled by a federal candidate or office holder; 
	12 
	12 
	12 
	3. Dismiss the allegation that Donald J. Trump; Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 13 and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer; or the Republican 14 National Committee and Ronald C. Kaufman in his official capacity as treasurer, 15 though their agent, Brad Parscale, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by raising soft 16 money for America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc.; 

	17 
	17 
	4. Dismiss the allegation that Michael R. Pence, and Great America Committee and 18 Cabell Hobbs in his official capacity as treasurer, through their agent, Marty Obst, 19 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by raising soft money for America First Policies, Inc. 20 and America First Action, Inc.; 

	21 
	21 
	5. Dismiss the allegation that America First Policies, Inc. violated 52 U.S.C. 22 §§ 30116 and 30118 by making excessive and prohibited contributions in the 23 form of coordinated expenditures; 

	24 
	24 
	6. Dismiss the allegation that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. 25 Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(b), 30116, 26 and 30118 by receiving and failing to report excessive and prohibited 27 contributions in the form of coordinated expenditures ; 

	28 
	28 
	7. Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. 29 Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 30 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money; 

	31 
	31 
	8. Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analyses; 

	32 
	32 
	9. Enter into conciliation with Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. 33 Crate in his official capacity as treasurer prior to a finding of probable cause to 34 believe; 


	35 10. Approve the attached conciliation agreement; 
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	1 
	1 
	1 
	11. Approve the appropriate letters; and 

	2 
	2 
	12. Close the file as to Great America Committee and Cabell Hobbs in his official 3 capacity as treasurer; America First Policies, fuc.; America First Action, fuc. and 4 Jon Proch in his official capacity as treasurer; President Donald J. T1ump; Vice 5 President Michael R. Pence; Republican National Committee and Ronald C. 6 Kaufman in his official capacity as treasurer; Parscale Strategy, LLC; Bradley J. 7 Parscale; MO Strategies, fuc.; and Marty Obst. 
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	14 11/24/2020 15 Date 16 
	17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 Attachments: 
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	Lisa J. Stevenson Acting General Counsel 

	The fact that America First Action supports President Trump and his agenda is a well-known matter of public record, including disclosures on FEC reports.  President Trump and others in the administration also often appear as special guests at America First Action events, as permitted by law.  See 11 C.F.R § 300.64. 
	The fact that America First Action supports President Trump and his agenda is a well-known matter of public record, including disclosures on FEC reports.  President Trump and others in the administration also often appear as special guests at America First Action events, as permitted by law.  See 11 C.F.R § 300.64. 
	1 


	“A solicitation is [a] communication that, construed as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a” donation.”  11 
	“A solicitation is [a] communication that, construed as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a” donation.”  11 
	2 


	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
	2 


	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4-5. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 8-9; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 6. MUR 7340 GAC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 23, 2018). Though named by the MUR 7340 Complaint and notified as 
	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4-5. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 8-9; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 6. MUR 7340 GAC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 23, 2018). Though named by the MUR 7340 Complaint and notified as 
	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4-5. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 8-9; MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 6. MUR 7340 GAC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 23, 2018). Though named by the MUR 7340 Complaint and notified as 
	6 
	7 
	8 



	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 
	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 
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	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 3 4 RESPONDENT: Great America Committee MUR: 7340 
	Figure
	5   and Cabell Hobbs in his official 6 capacity as treasurer 7 8 9 
	10 I. INTRODUCTION 11 This matter involves allegations that Marty Obst, a former Trump 2016 campaign 12 advisor, solicited soft money for America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 501(c)(4) 13 organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure-only political 14 committee (“IEOPC”) as an agent of Vice President Pence and his leadership PAC, Great 15 America Committee (“GAC”), which thus allegedly received and spent soft money in violation 16 of the Act.GAC argues that the allega
	1 
	2 
	3

	Attachment 1 of 9 Page 1 of 5 
	Attachment 1 of 9 Page 1 of 5 
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	Figure
	1 Complaint, the organization was founded by several alumni of the Trump 2016 campaign.AF 2 Policies has made independent expenditures in federal elections and, according to the 3 Complaint, has also solicited soft money.4 AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.AF Action, as an IEOPC, 5 has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in excess of 6 contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action reported 7 more than $1.2 mill
	4 
	5
	6 
	7 
	8 
	9
	10
	  Complainants also assert that he was a founder of AF Policies.
	11

	10 possesses information that MO Strategies was hired by AF Policies and AF Action for 11 GAC, a leadership PAC established by Pence, also made 12 disbursements to MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting.”  GAC’s response 
	fundraising consulting.
	12 
	13

	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. 
	4 

	(Jan. 30, 2017), ).  While Trump Committee reports filed with the Commission do not indicate any disbursements to either Obst or MO Strategies, multiple media reports have noted Obst’s role as a campaign advisor, and this role appears to be confirmed by Obst’s LinkedIn profile. See Marty Obst, LINKEDIN, (last visited Nov. 23, 2020). 
	https://apnews.com/77133d470c634a458b3198063af4a14b
	https://apnews.com/77133d470c634a458b3198063af4a14b

	https://www.linkedin.com/in/marty-obst-92611322 
	https://www.linkedin.com/in/marty-obst-92611322 


	Compl. ¶ 13. 
	11 

	Commission reports indicate that AF Action first reported a disbursement to MO Strategies on Aug. 9, 2017. See AF Action 2017 Year-End Report at 94 (Jan. 23, 2018). GAC Resp. at 1; see, e.g., GAC 2017 Year-End Report at 94-96 (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	12 
	13 
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	Figure
	1 in this matter admits that it disbursed “in excess of $220,000 (inclusive of reimbursements) to 2 MO Strategies, Inc.,” but does not describe the scope of Obst’s work, except to deny that Obst 3 4 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	was GAC’s “founder” as alleged in the Complaint.
	14 

	5 The Commission dismisses the Complaint’s allegations concerning non-federal 6 fundraising by GAC.  While the Act restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to 7 raise non-federal funds, “[it] does not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from 8 also raising non-federal funds for other political parties or outside groups.”  The Commission 9 has also observed that individuals who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate 
	15

	10 committee must solicit non-federal funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and 
	11 “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates.”
	16 

	12 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 
	13 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 
	14 any election.”  The Commission has explained that the purpose of adopting the “actual 
	17

	GAC Resp. at 1; see Compl. ¶ 34. 
	14 

	Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,979 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”).  
	15 

	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (“AO 2015-09”) (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform pot
	16 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,975-76; Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	17 

	MUR 7340 (Great America Committee) Factual & Legal Analysis Page 4 of 5 
	Figure
	1 authority standard” was to “preserve an individual’s ability to raise funds for multiple 2 organizations.”3 The Commission possesses information indicating that Marty Obst, through contracts 4 with his company MO Strategies, conducted fundraising for AF Policies and AF Action.  And it 5 is possible that Obst, through his company, solicited funds for GAC, which admits that it retained 6 MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting” but does not state whether that work 7 8 Despite the Complain
	18 
	entailed soliciting contributions.
	19 

	10 that any of the fundraising that MO Strategies did for AF Policies or AF Action was done at “the 11 request or suggestion” of Pence, or any other federal candidate or officeholder, or any committee 12 or entity other than AF Policies and AF Action.  The Commission possesses information 13 indicating that AF Policies and AF Action contracts with MO Strategies specifically state that 14 “[a]t all times while acting within the scope of this Agreement, Consultant agrees that it will 15 have no authority to, 
	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
	18 

	GAC Resp. at 1; see, e.g., GAC July 2017 Mid-Year Report at 65 (July 31, 2017) (indicating a $62,500 disbursement to MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting”). 
	19 
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	1 Commission dismisses the allegation that GAC, through its agent, Marty Obst, violated 2 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by raising soft money for AF Policies or AF Action. 
	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 3 4 RESPONDENTS: America First Policies, Inc. MUR: 7340 
	Figure
	5 America First Action, Inc. and  6   Jon Proch in his official 7 capacity as treasurer 8 9 
	10 11 I. INTRODUCTION 12 The Complaint filed in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and his authorized 13 campaign committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. (“Trump Committee”) established, 14 financed, maintained, or controlled (“EFMC’d”) America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 15 501(c)(4) organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure16 only political committee (“IEOPC”), and that both organizations allegedly solicited, received, 17 and spent soft money in violat
	-
	1 
	2 
	3
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	Figure
	1 
	1 
	1 
	spent soft money for AF Action or AF Policies on behalf of a federal candidate or officeholder;4 

	2 
	2 
	and (3) AF Policies did not coordinate with the Trump campaign regarding polling.5 

	3 
	3 
	The Complainants later filed a supplement to their complaint (“MUR 7340 Supplemental 

	4 
	4 
	Complaint”) to provide additional information in the form of a public statement by the Trump 

	5 
	5 
	Committee that warns against “scam groups” raising funds by “deceptively us[ing] the 

	6 
	6 
	President’s name, likeness, trademarks, or branding” and states that “there is one approved 

	7 
	7 
	outside non-campaign group, America First Action.”6 The Complainants allege that this 

	8 
	8 
	statement further supports their prior allegations that Trump EFMC’d AF Policies and AF 

	9 
	9 
	Action. 

	10 
	10 
	As discussed below, the Commission dismisses the allegations that AF Policies and AF 

	11 
	11 
	Action violated the soft money provisions of 52 U.S.C. § 30125, and the allegation that AF 

	12 
	12 
	Policies violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30118 by making excessive and prohibited corporate 

	13 
	13 
	in-kind contributions. 

	14 
	14 
	II. FACTS 

	15 
	15 
	AF Policies is a 501(c)(4) nonprofit organization, incorporated on January 27, 2017; it is 

	16 
	16 
	not registered with the Commission as a political committee.7  Brian O. Walsh, president of AF 

	17 
	17 
	Policies, reportedly stated that “America First Policies exists for one reason:  to support the 

	TR
	4 MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5-7; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5-7. 

	TR
	5 MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 8-9.  

	TR
	6 MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 

	TR
	7 MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1; Aff. of Brian O. Walsh (president of AF Policies) ¶¶ 1, 3. 


	Figure
	1 President of the United States and his agenda.”  According to news reports cited by the 2 Complaint, the organization was founded by several alumni of the Trump 2016 campaign, 3 including Bradley Parscale, the Digital and Data Director for the 2016 Trump campaign.AF 4 Policies does not state who its “founders” were but asserts that it was “largely inactive” and had 5 no board of directors until April 2017, when it named its board and appointed Walsh as 6   Walsh avers that he has never held a position wit
	8
	9 
	10
	president.
	11
	administration.
	12 
	13
	according to the Complaint, has also solicited soft money.
	14 
	AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.
	15 

	10 founded in April 2017 at the direction of AF Policies president Walsh, who also became 
	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
	8 
	lewandowki.html
	https://www nytimes.com/2017/12/21/us/politics/trump-stepien
	-



	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19.  In addition to Parscale, the other reported founders of AF Policies were Trump’s 2016 deputy campaign managers Rick Gates and David Bossie, campaign advisors Nicholas Ayers and Marty Obst, and senior campaign advisor Katrina Pierson. Id. 
	9 

	AF Policies did not report any activity to the Commission until June 6, 2017, when it made independent expenditures opposing the candidacy of Jonathan Ossoff for Congress.  AF Policies 24-Hour Report (June 7, 2017). 
	10 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1-2; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 3; see also MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2. AF Policies states that its original Board of Directors consisted of Nicholas Ayers, Douglas Ammerman and Thomas Hicks, Jr.  Subsequently, Roy Bailey replaced Ayers, who had taken a position in the Trump administration in July 2017, and Harold Hamm replaced Ammerman, who had resigned in November 2017. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 2, n.1. 
	11 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 2. 
	12 

	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). 
	13 
	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109.  The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id.  For its part, AF Policies denies that Parscale solicited donors, but does not address whether as an organization it has solicited or accepted soft money.  MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 8. 
	14 

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1; see AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). 
	15 
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	1 Its original directors were Walsh, Nicholas Ayers (who also served as 2 3 AF Action, as an IEOPC, has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise 4 would be in excess of contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; 5 AF Action reported more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal 6 elections in 2017.7 8 Information possessed by the Commission indicates that at various times, Parscale Strategy has 9 AF 
	president of AF Action.
	16 
	a director of AF Policies), and Jon Proch (who also serves as AF Action’s treasurer).
	17 
	18 
	Parscale Strategy, LLC is a political consulting firm owned by Bradley Parscale.
	19 
	been retained as a consultant by AF Policies, AF Action, and the Trump Committee.
	20 

	10 Action and AF Policies state that their contracts with Parscale Strategy were terminated when 
	11 
	Parscale was named 2020 campaign manager.
	21 

	12 Marty Obst is the owner of MO Strategies, Inc.,and was a campaign advisor to Trump 
	22 

	13 in 2016.MO Strategies was 
	23
	  Complainants also assert that he was a founder of AF Policies.
	24 

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 3. 
	16 

	Ayers resigned in July 2017 to join the Trump administration as Pence’s chief of staff.  Proch also resigned as a director and now serves only as treasurer of AF Action.  MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2, n.1.  Ayers and Proch were replaced on AF Action’s Board by Roy Bailey and Thomas Hicks, Jr., who also serve as AF Policies directors. MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2.  In addition to overlapping officers and directors, AF Action and AF Policies share the same counsel, the same address, and the bylaws of each a
	17 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	18 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 37. 
	19 

	See MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 7. 
	20 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5. 
	21 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 42. 
	22 

	Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS (Jan. 30, 2017), ).  While Trump Committee reports filed Attachment 2 of 9 Page 4 of 14 
	23 
	https://apnews.com/77133d470c634a458b3198063af4a14b
	https://apnews.com/77133d470c634a458b3198063af4a14b
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	Figure
	1   Since the 2016 election, the 
	hired by AF Policies and AF Action for fundraising consulting.
	25

	2 Complaint alleges, the Republican National Committee (“RNC”) has expended significantly less 
	3 The RNC acknowledges the 
	on polling than it has during previous Republican administrations.
	26 

	4 reduction, but states that this is a result of its extensive investments in other kinds of data that 
	5 The Complaint alleges that the Trump 
	have replaced much of its need for traditional polling.
	27 

	6 On 
	Committee has likewise not made disbursements for polling for his reelection campaign.
	28 

	7 the other hand, AF Policies has reportedly spent extensively on polling regarding Trump and his 
	8 policies and it has made much of this data available through what the Complaint characterizes as 
	9 an “obscure” link on AF Policies’The Complaint alleges that AF Policies has used 
	 homepage.
	29 

	with the Commission do not indicate any disbursements to either Obst or MO Strategies, multiple media reports have noted Obst’s role as a campaign advisor, and this role appears to be confirmed by Obst’s LinkedIn profile. See Marty Obst, LINKEDIN, (last visited Nov. 23, 2020). 
	https://www.linkedin.com/in/marty-obst-92611322 
	https://www.linkedin.com/in/marty-obst-92611322 


	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 13. 
	24 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5.  While the responses of AF Policies and AF Action do not indicate when they first retained MO Strategies, Commission reports indicate that AF Action first reported a disbursement to MO Strategies on Aug. 9, 2017. See AF Action 2017 Year-End Report at 94 (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	25 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 49; Christina Wilkie, Dark Money Group America First Policies Is Running a Pro-Trump Polling Operation, CNBC (Mar. 1, 2018) (“Wilkie, Dark Money”), 
	26 

	. 
	. 
	https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/01/america-first-policies-dark-money-polling-for-trump html


	Wilkie, Dark Money (quoting an RNC official stating, “Since 2013, we’ve spent $250 million to gather information through voter scoring, and we have a huge amount of information that informs these scores. . . .  So, we don’t really pay for traditional polling anymore.  We rely on this data, instead.”). 
	27 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money).  Trump Committee disclosure reports indicate one expenditure for “polling expenses” through mid-2018 to Gage Group – G2 Analytics for $74,583.  Trump Committee 2017 April Quarterly Report at 54969 (July 20, 2017). 
	28 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 45-50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money (reporting that AF Policies admitted to sharing their polling and putting it up on their homepage, but then removed much of the polling data from the website after being asked about it by CNBC)).  The polling information could be found by following a small link at the bottom of AF Policies’ homepage link entitled “data.”  See . AF Action also posts polling information in a similar fashion. See . 
	29 
	/
	https://www.americafirstpolicies.org/data

	/
	https://www.a1apac.org/data
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	1 several polling firms with relationships to the Trump Committee, including a polling firm that 2 3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 A. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that, having been Established, 
	was owned by Trump’s 2016 campaign manager Kellyanne Conway.
	30 

	5 Financed, Maintained, or Controlled by Trump or the Trump Committee, 6 AF Policies or AF Action Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Soliciting, Receiving, 7 or Spending Soft Money 8 9 The Complaint alleges that President Trump and the Trump Committee established, 
	10 financed, maintained, or controlled AF Policies and AF Action, which solicited, received, and 11 spent soft money.  In support of its allegation, the Complaint, relying on media reports, makes six 12 assertions:  (1) that Kellyanne Conway, former 2016 Trump campaign manager, publicly stated 13 that an organization will be formed and needs to be run by someone “close to the President”;14 (2) that AF Policies was founded by a group of former 2016 Trump campaign aides, including 15 Parscale and Obst;(3) tha
	31 
	32 
	33 
	34 
	35

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 46.  Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using it. Id. MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 88. Id. ¶ 90; see supra n.9. Id. ¶ 89. Id. ¶¶ 23, 90, 93. 
	30 
	31 
	32 
	33 
	34 
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	1 (6) the Trump Committee’s statement that AF Action is its “one approved outside non-campaign 2 group.”3 AF Policies’ response does not address who its founders were, but provides information 4 about the membership of its Board of Directors from two months after its founding.  Only one of 5 the reported “founders” of AF Policies actually held a position on the Board of Directors: 6 Nicholas Ayers, a campaign advisor to Vice President Pence who stepped down from his board 7 position at AF Policies when he b
	36 
	37 

	10 11 AF Policies and AF Action both note that their corporate bylaws give no authority to 12   According to 13 the affidavit of Walsh, the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or 14 other decision-making employees” of AF Policies and AF Action resides with Walsh and the 15 
	or administration.
	38 
	Trump or his campaign to direct or participate in the governance of the entities.
	39
	Board of Directors.
	40 

	Id. ¶ 94. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 2, n.1; see also Vice President Pence (@VP), TWITTER (July 28, 2017 
	35 
	36 
	37 

	11:37 AM), (“Congrats to @Nick_Ayers for being sworn-in as my Chief of Staff.  Excited to welcome you & great having your family at @WhiteHouse today.”). 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 


	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 2; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 2. 
	38 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 1-2; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 1-2. 
	39 

	MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4; Aff. of Walsh ¶¶ 5, 10; MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5; Aff. of Walsh ¶¶ 5, 10.  No Respondent explained who had decision-making authority prior to the installation of AF Policies’ Board of Directors several months after its founding or who installed that board. 
	40 
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	Figure
	1 
	1 
	1 
	The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 

	2 
	2 
	or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of one or 

	3 
	3 
	more candidates or individuals holding federal office, from “solicit[ing], receiv[ing], direct[ing], 

	4 
	4 
	transfer[ing], or spend[ing] funds in connection with an election for Federal office . . . unless the 

	5 
	5 
	funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of [the] Act.”41 

	6 
	6 
	This provision, among others enacted as part of the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002, 

	7 
	7 
	was designed to “plug the soft-money loophole.”42 

	8 
	8 
	To determine whether a candidate or his or her agent “directly or indirectly establishes, 

	9 
	9 
	finances, maintains, or controls” an entity, the Commission considers a non-exhaustive list of ten 

	10 
	10 
	factors set forth in 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2), including:  (1) whether the candidate or his agent has 

	11 
	11 
	the authority to “direct or participate in the governance of the entity through provisions of 

	12 
	12 
	constitutions, bylaws, contracts, or other rules, or through formal or informal practices or 

	13 
	13 
	procedures”;43 (2) whether the candidate or his agent has “the authority or ability to hire, appoint, 

	14 
	14 
	demote, or otherwise control the officers, or other decision-making employees or members of the 

	15 
	15 
	entity”;44 (3) whether former or present “overlapping officers or employees” indicate “a formal 

	16 
	16 
	or ongoing relationship” between the candidate or his agent and the entity;45 (4) whether directly 

	17 
	17 
	or through its agent, the candidate had an “active or significant role in the formation of the 

	TR
	41 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.61. 

	TR
	42 McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 133 (2003). 

	TR
	43 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(ii). 

	TR
	44 Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(iii). 

	TR
	45 Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(v), (vi). 


	Figure
	1 entity”;as well as any other relevant factors, in the context of the overall relationship between 2 3 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 4 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 5 any election.”  The Commission has explained that the purpose of adopting the “actual 6 authority standard” was to “preserve an individual’s ability to raise funds for multiple 7 organizations.”8 The establishme
	46 
	the federal candidate or officeholder, or his agent, and the entity.
	47 
	48
	49 
	previously held high-ranking positions with the 2016 Trump campaign.
	50

	10 titles, including two deputy campaign managers (Rick Gates and David Bossie), it appears likely 11 that at least some of these founders were agents of Trump and the Trump Committee during the 12 2016   But the available information is insufficient to support a reasonable inference 13 that any of these individuals was acting at the direction of Trump or the Trump Committee when 14 they reportedly formed AF Policies in January 2017.  Parscale was the only one of the reported 15 founders on the payroll of t
	campaign.
	51

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(ix). 
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	Id. § 300.2(c)(2); see Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo) at 3. 
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,975-76 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”); Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
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	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
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	See supra n.9. 
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	Notably, no facts have been asserted establishing what, if any, role these individuals had in the 2020 Trump campaign (other than Parscale, who became campaign manager in February 2018), or whether any agency authority that was established in the 2016 campaign still existed after that election, or particularly on January 27, 2017, when AF Policies was formed. 
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	1 His last paycheck was dated four days after the founding of AF Policies but appears to be for a 2 partial pay period as it is about half of the amount he was paid bi-weekly for the prior bi-weekly 3   Thus, it appears his personal employment by the Committee ended just prior to the 4 formation of AF Policies.  Even if Parscale was employed by the Trump Committee at the time 5 of the founding of AF Policies, his role was Digital and Data Director and there is not sufficient 6 evidence to conclude that he h
	periods.
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	contributions on behalf of the Trump Committee.
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	10 Trump campaign and was potentially therefore an agent of Trump and the Trump Committee in 11 2016, but the available information does not support the claim that he continued to be an agent of 12 Trump or the Trump Committee in April 2017 when AF Action was established.   13 As noted above, the Trump Committee and AF Policies and AF Action have several 14 overlapping current and former employees and vendors.  Parscale, whose company was retained 15 by all three entities, was employed in high-ranking posit
	See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, .  Thereafter, Parscale’s firm continued to receive disbursements from the Trump Committee. Id. 
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	The MUR 7340 Complaint’s suggestion that Trump established AF Policies by hiring Parscale to lead it, via Jared Kushner’s “blessing” is conclusory and unsupported. See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 15.  Even assuming that Kushner was an agent of Trump, the media report alone does not support a reasonable inference that Kushner had the “authority or ability to hire” Parscale for a job at an entity that did not exist at that point. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,978, n.6 (“Specifically, it is not enough that there is s
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	1 Trump Committee in 2016 and were allegedly founders of AF Policies.  But as the Commission 2 has stated previously, “more than the mere fact of such informal, ongoing relationships between 3 the personnel of the potentially sponsoring and potentially sponsored entity is necessary to 4 support a conclusion of ‘establishment, financing, maintenance or control.’”  Instead, to 5 establish a violation based on overlapping employees and officers, the overlap must “indicate[] 6 formal or ongoing relationship.”Th
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	employee.
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	10 11 Moreover, “while former employers and colleagues may exercise influence, influence is 12 not necessarily control.”  Here, formal control under the bylaws of AF Policies and AF Action, 13 including the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or other 14 decision-making employees,” rests with the Board of Directors and the president of the 15 organization, and there is no information indicating that hiring did not occur in accordance with 16 this stated process. 
	formal relationship by not retaining, even as a vendor, an employee of the Trump Committee.
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	Factual & Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 8, MUR 6280 (Howard L. Berman). 
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(v). 
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	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 2, n.1; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 6; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 2, n.1. 
	56 

	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 6, n.4; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 16; MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 5, n.5; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 16. 
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	F&LA at 8, MUR 6280. 
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	MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 5; Aff. of Walsh ¶ 5; see supra n.53; F&LA at 4, MUR 7070 (Congressional Leadership Fund, et al.) (“However, the quoted statement that ‘Fink was personally approached by House Speaker Paul Ryan to take the job’ does not, by itself, support a reasonable inference that Ryan had the ‘authority or ability to hire’ Fink under section 300.2(c)(2)(iii).”); cf. Advisory Op. 2003-12 (Flake) (concluding that 
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	1 Finally, Complainants note in the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint that the allegation 2 is supported by the additional evidence that the Trump Committee made a public statement 3 regarding fundraising, stating that AF Action is the only “approved outside non-campaign 4 group.”This statement and the attending circumstances do not appear to establish that the AF 5 6 In short, the available information is insufficient to give rise to a reasonable inference that 7 AF Policies or AF Action was established, fin
	60 
	Action was EFMC’d by Trump or the Trump Committee.
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	10 B. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that AF Policies Violated the Act 11 by Making Unreported Contributions in the Form of Coordinated 12 Expenditures 13 14 The Complaint asserts that AF Policies conducted polls on voter perceptions of Trump 
	15 and his policies in coordination with the Trump Committee, resulting in an unreported and 16 The Complaint bases its allegation on the 17 following facts:  (1) the Trump Committee reported no disbursements for polling during the 18 relevant period, and the RNC’s reported polling expenses decreased relative to prior years during 19 the relevant period;(2) AF Policies used a polling firm owned by presidential advisor 
	excessive in-kind contribution to the Committee.
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	a candidate “established” an entity for purposes of 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2) on the basis that the candidate was among the individuals who formed the committee and signed its organizational documents, he served as its chairman, and his part-time campaign consultant aided the committee with its state filings and bank accounts). 
	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 1-4. 
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	Among the EFMC factors set forth in the Commission’s regulations is that a candidate or officeholder “causes or arranges for funds in a significant amount or on an ongoing basis to be provided to the entity.”  11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(viii).  In the present matter, AF Action disclosed the receipt of contributions totaling $2.7 million in the month before the Trump Committee statement and $1.3 million in the month after the statement. See AF Action 2019 Mid-Year Report (July 31, 2019). 
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	1 Kellyanne Conway;(3) AF Policies consultants Parscale and Lewandowski reportedly attended 2 a meeting at the White House to discuss the 2018 mid-term elections; and (4) AF Policies 3 posted the polling results at a relatively obscure link on its website and took the results down 4 5 AF Policies denies any coordination.  AF Policies does not deny that Parscale or 6 Lewandowski attended the reported meeting at the White House, but states that their attendance 7 was not at the direction of AF Policies and th
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	after reporters inquired about the polls.
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	conducted by AF Policies was discussed.
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	10 Under the Commission’s regulations, any expenditures that are made in cooperation, 11 consultation or in concert with, or at the request or suggestion of a candidate or a candidate’s 12 authorized committee, but that are not coordinated communications, party coordinated 13 communications, or coordinated party expenditures, are in-kind contributions to the candidate 14 
	and must be reported as an expenditure by that candidate.
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	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 137-145. Id. ¶¶ 49-50, 144. Id. ¶ 46.  Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using 
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	it. Id. Id. ¶ 139. Id. ¶¶ 47-48. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 9, n.5. Id. at 9. 11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(7)(B); see also 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b) (describing 
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	circumstances in which non-connected committee’s purchase of poll results to make expenditures and candidate committee’s subsequent acceptance of poll results is in-kind contribution to that candidate committee); Campaign Guide for Nonconnected Committees at 25, (“a 
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	The available information is not sufficient to support the conclusion that AF Policies and 

	2 
	2 
	the Trump campaign coordinated in connection with the polling as alleged in the Complaint. 

	3 
	3 
	Specifically, the available information is insufficient to demonstrate that AF Policies and the 

	4 
	4 
	Trump campaign acted in cooperation, consultation, or in concert in conducting the polling.  For 

	5 
	5 
	example, though the Complaint mentions the involvement of the company of Trump’s advisor, 

	6 
	6 
	Conway, in the polling, it presents no allegation that Conway had any personal knowledge of or 

	7 
	7 
	involvement in AF Policies’ polling activity.  Nor is there enough information to conclude that 

	8 
	8 
	AF Policies made an in-kind contribution to the Trump campaign by sharing the results of the 

	9 
	9 
	polling.  Although the Complaint notes that the polling results were published online, it presents 

	10 
	10 
	insufficient information to conclude that the Trump Committee accessed those results or that AF 

	11 
	11 
	Policies communicated any information about the online information to the Trump Committee. 

	12 
	12 
	In sum, when taken together, the available facts do not support a reasonable inference that there 

	13 
	13 
	was coordination on the polling.  Accordingly, the Commission dismisses the allegations that AF 

	14 
	14 
	Policies violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30118 by making prohibited and excessive in-kind 

	15 
	15 
	contributions to the Trump Committee. 
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	1 statement further supports their prior allegations.  As discussed below, the Commission 2 dismisses the allegations that Trump violated the soft money provisions of 52 U.S.C. § 30125.   3 II. FACTS 4 AF Policies is a 501(c)(4) nonprofit organization, incorporated on January 27, 2017; it is 5 not registered with the Commission as a political committee.  Brian O. Walsh, president of AF 6 Policies, reportedly stated that “America First Policies exists for one reason:  to support the 7 President of the United
	4 
	5

	10 “largely inactive” and had no board of directors until April 2017, when it named its board and 
	6

	11 appointed Walsh as president.Information indicates that Walsh has never held a position with 
	7 

	12 the Trump campaign or administration.  AF Policies has made independent expenditures in 
	13 federal elections and, according to the Complaint, has also solicited soft money.
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	Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
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	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19.  In addition to Parscale, the other reported founders of AF Policies were Trump’s 2016 deputy campaign managers Rick Gates and David Bossie, campaign advisors Nicholas Ayers and Marty Obst, and senior campaign advisor Katrina Pierson. Id. 
	5 

	AF Policies did not report any activity to the Commission until June 6, 2017, when it made independent expenditures opposing the candidacy of Jonathan Ossoff for Congress. AF Policies 24-Hour Report (June 7, 2017). 
	6 

	The Commission also possesses information that the original Board of Directors of AF Policies consisted of Nicholas Ayers, Douglas Ammerman and Thomas Hicks, Jr.  Subsequently, Roy Bailey replaced Ayers, who had taken a position in the Trump administration in July 2017, and Harold Hamm replaced Ammerman, who had resigned in November 2017. 
	7 

	See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id. 
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	1 The committee was 2 founded in April 2017 at the direction of AF Policies president Walsh, who also became 3 president of AF Action.  Its original directors were Walsh, Nicholas Ayers (who also served as a 4 AF Action, 5 as an IEOPC, has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in 6 excess of contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action 7 reported more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal elections in 8 2
	AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.
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	director of AF Policies), and Jon Proch (who also serves as AF Action’s treasurer).
	11 
	12 

	10 February 2018, Parscale, who was also the Digital and Data Director for the 2016 Trump 
	11 
	campaign, was named campaign manager for the 2020 Trump campaign.
	13 

	12 At 
	Parscale Strategy, LLC is a political consulting firm owned by Bradley Parscale.
	14 

	13 various times, Parscale Strategy has been retained as a consultant by AF Policies, AF Action, and 
	14 the Trump Committee.  The Commission also possesses information that Parscale Strategy’s 
	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). 
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	The Commission possesses information indicating that Ayers resigned in July, 2017 to join the Trump administration as Pence’s chief of staff.  Proch also resigned as a director and now serves only as treasurer of AF Action. Ayers and Proch were replaced on AF Action’s Board by Roy Bailey and Thomas Hicks, Jr., who also serve as AF Policies directors. 
	11 

	Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
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	Compl. ¶ 12.  Reports filed with the Commission indicate that Parscale was on payroll for the 2016 Trump campaign and that another firm in which he is a partner, Giles-Parscale, was the number one recipient of disbursements from the 2016 Trump campaign, receiving nearly $88 million in disbursements. See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, .  On July 15, 2020, Trump announced that he was replacing Parscale as campaign manager, but that Parscale would remain with the campaign 
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	1 contracts with AF Action and AF Policies were terminated when Parscale was named 2020 
	2 campaign manager. 
	3 On May 7, 2019, The Trump Committee issued a statement criticizing “scam groups” 
	4 raising funds by “deceptively us[ing] the President’s name, likeness, trademarks, or branding.”
	15 

	5 The statement continued, asserting that: 
	6 There are only four official fundraising organizations authorized 7 by President Trump or the RNC: Donald J. Trump for President, 8 the Republican National Committee, and two joint fundraising 9 committees with the RNC, The Make America Great Again 
	10 Committee (TMAGAC) and Trump Victory.  In addition, there is 11 one approved outside non-campaign group, America First Action, 12 which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted supporter of 13 14 15 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	President Trump’s policies and agendas.
	16 

	16 A. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that Trump Violated 52 U.S.C. § 17 30125 by Establishing, Financing, Maintaining, or Controlling AF Policies or 18 AF Action 19 20 The Complaint in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and the Trump Committee 
	21 violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by establishing, financing, maintaining, or 
	22 controlling AF Policies and AF Action, which solicited, received, and spent soft money.  In 
	23 support of its allegation, the Complaint, relying on media reports, makes six assertions:  (1) that 
	24 Kellyanne Conway, former 2016 Trump campaign manager, publicly stated that an organization 
	25 will be formed and needs to be run by someone “close to thePresident”;(2) that AF Policies 
	17 

	26 was founded by a group of former 2016 Trump campaign aides, including Parscale and Obst;
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	Supp. Compl. at 2. Id.. Compl. ¶ 88. Id. ¶ 90; see supra n.7. 
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	1 (3) that Trump’s son-in-law, Jared Kushner, gave Parscale his “blessing” to head AF Policies;2 (4) that consultants, including Parscale and Corey Lewandowski, Trump’s former 2016 3 campaign manager, worked for both the Trump Committee and AF Policies or AF Action;(5) 4 that AF Policies and AF Action staff regularly communicated with Trump and his campaign 5 based on a media report of a number of individuals including Parscale and Lewandowski 6 meeting with White House staff regarding the 2018 mid-term ele
	19 
	20 
	21
	22 

	10 Policies actually held a position on the Board of Directors:  Nicholas Ayers, a campaign advisor 11 to Pence who stepped down from his board position at AF Policies when he became Pence’s 12 chief of staff on July 28, 2017.  The Commission also possesses information that the first and 13 only president of AF Policies and AF Action, Brian O. Walsh, has never held any role with the 14 Trump campaign or administration. 15 Information further indicates that the corporate bylaws of both AF Policies and AF 16 
	23

	Id. ¶ 89. Id. ¶¶ 23, 90, 93. Id. ¶ 94. Supp. Compl. at 3. See Vice President Pence (@VP), TWITTER (July 28, 2017 11:37 AM), 
	19 
	20 
	21 
	22 
	23 

	(“Congrats to @Nick_Ayers for being sworn-in as my Chief of Staff.  Excited to welcome you & great having your family at @WhiteHouse today.”). 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
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	1 
	1 
	1 
	other decision-making employees” of AF Policies and AF Action resides with Walsh and the 

	2 
	2 
	Board of Directors. 

	3 
	3 
	The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 

	4 
	4 
	or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of one or 

	5 
	5 
	more candidates or individuals holding federal office, from “solicit[ing], receiv[ing], direct[ing], 

	6 
	6 
	transfer[ing], or spend[ing] funds in connection with an election for Federal office . . . unless the 

	7 
	7 
	funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of [the] Act.”24 

	8 
	8 
	This provision, among others enacted as part of the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002, 

	9 
	9 
	was designed to “plug the soft-money loophole.”25 

	10 
	10 
	To determine whether a candidate or his or her agent “directly or indirectly establishes, 

	11 
	11 
	finances, maintains, or controls” an entity, the Commission considers a non-exhaustive list of ten 

	12 
	12 
	factors set forth in 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2), including:  (1) whether the candidate or his agent has 

	13 
	13 
	the authority to “direct or participate in the governance of the entity through provisions of 

	14 
	14 
	constitutions, bylaws, contracts, or other rules, or through formal or informal practices or 

	15 
	15 
	procedures”;26 (2) whether the candidate or his agent has “the authority or ability to hire, 

	16 
	16 
	appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers, or other decision-making employees or 

	17 
	17 
	members of the entity”;27 (3) whether former or present “overlapping officers or employees” 

	18 
	18 
	indicate “a formal or ongoing relationship” between the candidate or his agent and the entity;28 

	TR
	24 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.61. 

	TR
	25 McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 133 (2003). 

	TR
	26 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(ii). 

	TR
	27 Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(iii). 

	TR
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	1 (4) whether directly or through its agent, the candidate had an “active or significant role in the 2 formation of the entity”;as well as any other relevant factors, in the context of the overall 3 4 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 5 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 6 any election.”  The Commission has explained that the purpose of adopting the “actual 7 authority standard” was to
	29 
	relationship between the federal candidate or officeholder, or his agent, and the entity.
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	31
	32 

	10   Considering their 11 titles, including two deputy campaign managers (Rick Gates and David Bossie), it appears likely 12 that at least some of these founders were agents of Trump and the Trump Committee during the 13 2016   But the available information is insufficient to support a reasonable inference 14 that any of these individuals was acting at the direction of Trump or the Trump Committee when 15 they reportedly formed AF Policies in January 2017.  Parscale was the only one of the reported 
	previously held high-ranking positions with the 2016 Trump campaign.
	33
	campaign.
	34

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(ix). 
	29 

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2); see Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo) at 3. 
	30 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,975-76 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”); Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
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	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
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	See supra n.7. 
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	Notably, no facts have been asserted establishing what, if any, role these individuals had in the 2020 Trump campaign (other than Parscale, who became campaign manager in February 2018), or whether any agency authority that was established in the 2016 campaign still existed after that election, or particularly on January 27, 2017, when AF Policies was formed. 
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	1 founders on the payroll of the Trump Committee around the time that AF Policies was formed.  2 His last paycheck was dated four days after the founding of AF Policies but appears to be for a 3 partial pay period as it is about half of the amount he was paid bi-weekly for the prior bi-weekly 4   Thus, it appears his personal employment by the Committee ended just prior to the 5 formation of AF Policies.  Even if Parscale was employed by the Trump Committee at the time 6 of the founding of AF Policies, his 
	periods.
	35
	contributions on behalf of the Trump Committee.
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	10 the Trump Committee.  One of AF Action’s original board members, Ayers, worked on the 2016 11 Trump campaign and was potentially therefore an agent of Trump and the Trump Committee in 12 2016, but the available information does not support the claim that he continued to be an agent of 13 Trump or the Trump Committee in April 2017 when AF Action was established.   14 As noted above, the Trump Committee and AF Policies and AF Action have several 15 overlapping current and former employees and vendors.  Par
	See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, . Thereafter, Parscale’s firm continued to receive disbursements from the Trump Committee. Id. 
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	The Complaint’s suggestion that Trump established AF Policies by hiring Parscale to lead it via Jared Kushner’s “blessing” is conclusory and unsupported. See Compl. ¶ 15.  Even assuming that Kushner was an agent of Trump, the media report alone does not support a reasonable inference that Kushner had the “authority or ability to hire” Parscale for a job at an entity that did not exist at that point. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,978, n.6 (“Specifically, it is not enough that there is some relationship or
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	1 Action, as a consultant.  A number of other individuals including Ayers also had roles with the 2 Trump Committee in 2016 and were allegedly founders of AF Policies.  But as the Commission 3 has stated previously, “more than the mere fact of such informal, ongoing relationships between 4 the personnel of the potentially sponsoring and potentially sponsored entity is necessary to 5 support a conclusion of ‘establishment, financing, maintenance or control.’”Instead, to 6 establish a violation based on overl
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	10 Parscale’s firm when he was named Trump’s 2020 campaign manager further undermines the 11 existence of a formal relationship by not retaining, even as a vendor, an employee of the Trump 12 Committee. 13 Moreover, “while former employers and colleagues may exercise influence, influence is 14 not necessarily control.”  Here, formal control under the bylaws of AF Policies and AF Action, 15 including the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or other 16 decision-making employ
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	1 Finally, Complainants note in the Supplemental Complaint that the allegation that Trump 2 and the Trump Committee violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by establishing, 3 financing, maintaining, or controlling AF Policies and AF Action is supported by the additional 4 evidence that the Trump Committee made a public statement regarding fundraising, stating that 5 AF Action is the only “approved outside non-campaign group.”  This statement and the 6 attending circumstances do not appear to establis
	41
	the Trump Committee.
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	10 the Trump Committee.  Accordingly, the Commission dismisses these allegations that Trump 11 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125.  12 B. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that Trump, Through His Agent, 
	13 Brad Parscale, Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Raising Soft Money for AF 14 Policies or AF Action 15 16 The Complaint alleges, “[b]ased on published reports,” that Parscale solicited soft money 
	17 While the Act 18 restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal funds, “[it] does 19 not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from also raising non-federal funds for 
	for AF Policies and AF Action as an agent of Trump or the Trump Committee.
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	organizational documents, he served as its chairman, and his part-time campaign consultant aided the committee with its state filings and bank accounts). 
	Supp. Compl. at 1-4. 
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	Among the EFMC factors set forth in the Commission’s regulations is that a candidate or officeholder “causes or arranges for funds in a significant amount or on an ongoing basis to be provided to the entity.”  11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(viii).  In the present matter, AF Action disclosed the receipt of contributions totaling $2.7 million in the month before the Trump Committee statement and $1.3 million in the month after the statement. See AF Action 2019 Mid-Year Report (July 31, 2019). 
	42 

	Compl. ¶ 111; see also id. ¶¶ 33, 37 (detailing reported disbursements to Parscale’s company for “digital fundraising consulting,” among other purposes). 
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	1 other political parties or outside groups.”  The Commission has also observed that individuals 2 who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate committee must solicit non-federal 3 funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of 4 federal candidates.”5 Assuming, arguendo, that Parscale was an agent of the Trump Committee at some time 6 after the formation of AF Policies and before being named Trump’s campaign manager in 2018, 7 the record does n
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	10 and AF Policies and did not directly solicit donors.  Accordingly, because the available 11 information fails to give rise to a reasonable inference that a violation has occurred, the 12 Commission dismisses the allegation that Trump has violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 
	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979. 
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	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (“AO 2015-09”) (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform pot
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	5 6 7 8 I. INTRODUCTION 
	9 This matter involves allegations that Marty Obst, a former Trump 2016 campaign 10 advisor, solicited soft money for America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 501(c)(4) 11 organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure-only political 12 committee (“IEOPC”) as an agent of Vice President Pence and his leadership PAC, Great 13 America Committee (“GAC”), which thus allegedly received and spent soft money in violation 14 of the Act.  As discussed below, the Commission dismisses
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	1 Policies has made independent expenditures in federal elections and, according to the 2 Complaint, has also solicited soft money.3 AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.AF Action, as an IEOPC, 4 has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in excess of 5 contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action reported 6 more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal elections in 2017.7 Marty Obst is the
	4
	5 
	6 
	7 
	8
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	  Complainants also assert that he was a founder of AF Policies.
	10

	10 GAC, a leadership PAC established by Pence, also made 11 disbursements to MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting.”  The Commission 
	fundraising consulting.
	11 
	12

	Compl. ¶ 13. 
	10 

	Commission reports indicate that AF Action first reported a disbursement to MO Strategies on Aug. 9, 2017. See AF Action 2017 Year-End Report at 94 (Jan. 23, 2018). GAC, Statement of Organization (Dec. 18, 2019); see, e.g., GAC 2017 Year-End Report at 94-96 (Jan. 23, 
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	1 possesses information that GAC disbursed in excess of $220,000 (inclusive of reimbursements) 2 to MO Strategies, Inc. 3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	4 The Commission dismisses the Complaint’s allegations concerning non-federal 5 fundraising by Marty Obst as an agent of Pence.  While the Act restricts the ability of federal 6 candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal funds, “[it] does not prohibit individuals who 7 are agents of the foregoing from also raising non-federal funds for other political parties or 8 outside groups.”  The Commission has also observed that individuals who are dual agents of 9 both a candidate and a non-candidate committe
	13
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	10 candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal 
	11 candidates.”
	14 

	12 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 
	13 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 
	14 any election.”  The Commission has explained that the purpose of adopting the “actual 
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	Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,979 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”).  
	13 

	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform potential contribu
	14 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,975-76; Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
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	1 authority standard” was to “preserve an individual’s ability to raise funds for multiple 2 organizations.”3  The Commission possesses information indicating that Marty Obst, through contracts 4 with his company MO Strategies, conducted fundraising for AF Policies and AF Action.  And it 5 is possible that Obst, through his company, solicited funds for GAC.  Information available to the 6 Commission indicates GAC retained MO Strategies for financial/political strategy consulting but 7 8 Despite the Complain
	16 
	does not make clear whether that work entailed soliciting contributions.
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	10 that any of the fundraising that MO Strategies did for AF Policies or AF Action was done at “the 11 request or suggestion” of Pence, or any other federal candidate or officeholder, or any committee 12 or entity other than AF Policies and AF Action.  The Commission possesses information 13 indicating that AF Policies and AF Action contracts with MO Strategies specifically state that 14 “[a]t all times while acting within the scope of this Agreement, Consultant agrees that it will 15 have no authority to, 
	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
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	See, e.g., GAC July 2017 Mid-Year Report at 65 (July 31, 2017) (indicating a $62,500 disbursement to MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy consulting”). 
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	10 The Complaint alleges that Bradley Parscale, the Digital and Data Director for the 2016 11 Trump campaign, solicited soft money for America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 501(c)(4) 12 organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure-only political 13 committee (“IEOPC”),  as an agent of the Republican National Committee (“RNC”) in violation 14 of the Act.  As discussed below, the Commission dismisses the allegation that the RNC violated 15 the soft money provisions of 5
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	1 Policies has made independent expenditures in federal elections and, according to the 2 Complaint, has also solicited soft money.3 AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.AF Action, as an IEOPC, 4 has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in excess of 5 contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action reported 6 more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal elections in 2017.7 The RNC is a nati
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	10 by AF Policies, AF Action, the Trump Committee, and the RNC.The Commission possesses 11 information that AF Action and AF Policies terminated their contracts with Parscale Strategy 12 when Parscale was named 2020 campaign manager.  The RNC has continued to contract with 13 Parscale Strategy. 14 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 15 While the Act restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non16 federal funds, “[it] does not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from also 
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	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.
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	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent 

	expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109.  The Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id. 
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	1 raising non-federal funds for other political parties or outside groups.”  The Commission has 2 also observed that individuals who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate 3 committee must solicit non-federal funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and 4 “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates.”5 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 6 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or sp
	11
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	10 The Complaint alleges that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies and AF Action 11 on behalf of the RNC, based on the RNC paying Parscale Strategy “more than $2 million for 12 management consulting.”The Act prohibits a national committee of a political party and any 13 
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	agent acting on behalf of such a committee from soliciting soft money.
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	Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,979 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”). 
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	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (“AO 2015-09”) (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform pot
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,975-76; Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
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	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
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	Compl. ¶ 129. 
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	52 U.S.C. § 30125(a). 
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	1 The RNC responds that Pascale was not a fundraising agent of the RNC because his 2 firm’s consulting work did not include soliciting contributions (though he did advise the RNC 3 regarding its online fundraising),and that its contract with Parscale explicitly prohibits him 4 from raising non-federal funds on behalf of the RNC.Therefore, because the available 5 information fails to give rise to a reasonable inference that a violation has occurred, the 6 Commission dismisses the allegation that the RNC thro
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	RNC Resp. at 9. 
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	RNC Resp. at 2-3 (quoting Parscale Strategy’s contract: “Independent Contractor is not an agent of the RNC and expressly agrees not to represent itself as an agent of the RNC in the course of, or in connection with, the raising of any Non-Federal Funds.”). 
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	5 Parscale Strategy, LLC 6 7 8 9 I. INTRODUCTION 
	10 The Complaint filed in MUR 7340 alleges that Bradley Parscale, the Digital and Data 11 Director for the 2016 Trump campaign, solicited soft money for America First Policies (“AF 12 Policies”), a 501(c)(4) organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent 13 expenditure-only political committee (“IEOPC”), as an agent of President Trump, his authorized 14 campaign committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. (“Trump Committee”), and the 15 Republican National Committee (“RNC”) in violat
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	1 including Parscale.AF Policies has made independent expenditures in federal elections and, 2 according to the Complaint, has also solicited soft money.3 AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.AF Action, as an IEOPC, 4 has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in excess of 5 contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action reported 6 more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal elections in 20
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	10 for the 2020 Trump campaign.
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	11 Parscale Strategy, LLC is a political consulting firm owned by Bradley Parscale.The 
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	12 Commission possesses information that at various times, Parscale Strategy has been retained as a 
	13 consultant by AF Policies, AF Action, the Trump Committee, and the RNC.  The Commission 
	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19.  In addition to Parscale, the other reported founders of AF Policies were Trump’s 2016 deputy campaign managers Rick Gates and David Bossie, campaign advisors Nicholas Ayers and Marty Obst, and senior campaign advisor Katrina Pierson. Id. 
	3 

	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). 
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	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent 

	See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109.  The Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id. 
	5 

	Compl. ¶ 12.  Reports filed with the Commission indicate that Parscale was on payroll for the 2016 Trump campaign and that another firm in which he is a partner, Giles-Parscale, was the number one recipient of disbursements from the 2016 Trump campaign, receiving nearly $88 million in disbursements. See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, .  On July 15, 2020, Trump announced that he was replacing Parscale as campaign manager, but that Parscale would remain with the campaign 
	8 
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016
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	1 also possesses information that Parscale Strategy’s contracts with AF Action and AF Policies 2 were terminated when Parscale was named 2020 campaign manager.  The RNC has continued to 3 contract with Parscale Strategy. 4 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 5 The Complaint alleges, “[b]ased on published reports,” that Parscale solicited soft money 6 While the Act 7 restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal funds, “[it] does 8 not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing
	for AF Policies and AF Action as an agent of Trump or the Trump Committee.
	10 
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	10 who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate committee must solicit non-federal 11 funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of 12 federal candidates.”13 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 14 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 
	12 

	Compl. ¶ 37. 
	9 

	Compl. ¶ 111; see also id. ¶¶ 33, 37 (detailing reported disbursements to Parscale’s company for “digital fundraising consulting,” among other purposes). 
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	Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,979 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”).  
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	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform potential contribu
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	1 any election.”  The Commission has explained that the purpose of adopting the “actual 2 authority standard” was to “preserve an individual’s ability to raise funds for multiple 3 organizations.”4 Assuming, arguendo, that Parscale was an agent of the Trump Committee at some time 5 after the formation of AF Policies and before being named Trump’s campaign manager in 2018, 6 the record does not support a reasonable inference that Parscale solicited funds for either 7 AF Policies or AF Action.  The Commission
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	10 information fails to give rise to a reasonable inference that a violation has occurred, the 11 Commission dismisses the allegations that Bradley Parscale, and Parscale Strategy, LLC have 12 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 13 Similarly, the Complaint alleges that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies and 14 AF Action on behalf of the RNC, based on the RNC paying Parscale Strategy “more than $2 15 million for management consulting.”The Act prohibits a national committee of a political 16 17 The Commiss
	15 
	party and any agent acting on behalf of such a committee from soliciting soft money.
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,975-76; Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
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	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. Compl. ¶ 129. 52 U.S.C. § 30125(a). 
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	1 with Parscale explicitly prohibits him from raising non-federal funds on behalf of the RNC.  2 Accordingly, because the available information fails to give rise to a reasonable inference that a 3 violation has occurred, the Commission dismisses the allegation that Bradley Parscale and 4 Parscale Strategy, LLC violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(a). 
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	5 MO Strategies, Inc. 6 7 8 9 I. INTRODUCTION 
	10 This matter involves allegations that Marty Obst a former Trump 2016 campaign advisor, 11 and his company MO Strategies, Inc. solicited soft money for America First Policies (“AF 12 Policies”), a 501(c)(4) organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent 13 expenditure-only political committee (“IEOPC”), as an agent of Vice President Pence and his 14 leadership PAC, Great America Committee (“GAC”), which thus allegedly received and spent 15 soft money in violation of the Act.  As disc
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	1 Complaint, the organization was founded by several alumni of the Trump 2016 campaign.2 AF Policies has made independent expenditures in federal elections and, according to the 3 Complaint, has also solicited soft money.4 AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.AF Action, as an IEOPC, 5 has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in excess of 6 contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action reported 7 more than $1.2 mill
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	  Complainants also assert that he was a founder of AF Policies.
	10

	10 possesses information that MO Strategies was hired by AF Policies and AF Action for 11 GAC, a leadership PAC established by Pence, also made 12   The Commission 
	fundraising consulting.
	11 
	disbursements to MO Strategies for financial/political strategy consulting.
	12

	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. 
	3 

	(Jan. 30, 2017), ).  While Trump Committee reports filed with the Commission do not indicate any disbursements to either Obst or MO Strategies, multiple media reports have noted Obst’s role as a campaign advisor, and this role appears to be confirmed by Obst’s LinkedIn profile. See Marty Obst, LINKEDIN, (last visited Nov. 23, 2020). 
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	Compl. ¶ 13. 
	10 

	Commission reports indicate that AF Action first reported a disbursement to MO Strategies on Aug. 9, 2017. See AF Action 2017 Year-End Report at 94 (Jan. 23, 2018). See, e.g., GAC 2017 Year-End Report at 94-96 (Jan. 23, 2018). 
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	1 possesses information that GAC disbursed in excess of $220,000 (inclusive of reimbursements) 2 to MO Strategies, Inc. 3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	4 The Commission dismisses the Complaint’s allegations concerning non-federal 5 fundraising by Marty Obst and MO Stratiges as agents of Pence and GAC.  While the Act 6 restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal funds, “[it] does 7 not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from also raising non-federal funds for 8 other political parties or outside groups.”  The Commission has also observed that individuals 9 who are dual agents of both a candidate and a
	13

	10 funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of 
	11 federal candidates.”
	14 

	12 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 
	13 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 
	14 any election.”  The Commission has explained that the purpose of adopting the “actual 
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	Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,979 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”). 
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	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform potential contribu
	14 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,975-76; Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	15 

	MUR 7340 (Marty Obst & MO Strategies, Inc.) Factual & Legal Analysis Page 4 of 5 
	Figure
	1 authority standard” was to “preserve an individual’s ability to raise funds for multiple 2 organizations.”3 The Commission possesses information indicating that Marty Obst, through contracts 4 with his company MO Strategies, conducted fundraising for AF Policies and AF Action.  And it 5 is possible that Obst, through his company, solicited funds for GAC.  Information available to the 6 Commission indicates that GAC retained MO Strategies for “financial/political strategy 7 consulting”8 Despite the Complai
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	 but does not indicate whether that work entailed soliciting contributions.
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	10 that any of the fundraising that MO Strategies did for AF Policies or AF Action was done at “the 11 request or suggestion” of Pence, or any other federal candidate or officeholder, or any committee 12 or entity other than AF Policies and AF Action.  The Commission possesses information 13 indicating that AF Policies and AF Action contracts with MO Strategies specifically state that 14 “[a]t all times while acting within the scope of this Agreement, Consultant agrees that it will 15 have no authority to, 
	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
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	5 and Bradley T. Crate in his official 6 capacity as treasurer 7 8 9 
	10 I. INTRODUCTION 11 The Complaint filed in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and his authorized 12 campaign committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. (“Trump Committee”) established, 13 financed, maintained, or controlled (“EFMC’d”) America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 14 501(c)(4) organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure15 only political committee (“IEOPC”), and that both organizations allegedly solicited, received, 16 and spent soft money in violation
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	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) Factual & Legal Analysis Page 2 of 23 
	1 The Trump Committee denies these allegations, arguing that:  (1) Trump and the Trump 2 Committee had no role in the creation of, and have no role in the operation of, AF Policies or AF 3 Action; (2) no agent of a federal candidate or officeholder solicited, received, or spent soft 4 money for AF Action or AF Policies on behalf of a federal candidate or officeholder; and (3) AF 5 Policies did not coordinate with the Trump campaign regarding polling.6 The Complainants in MUR 7340 later filed a supplement to
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	10 outside non-campaign group, America First Action.”The Complainants allege that this 11 statement further supports their prior allegations as well as constitutes an independent violation 12 by soliciting funds outside the federal limits and prohibitions.  A separate complaint, filed in 13 MUR 7609, makes the similar allegation that this statement violates the Act by soliciting and 14 directing contributions outside the limits and prohibitions of the Act in violation of 52 U.S.C. 15 § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R
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	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 3 (Apr. 30, 2018). MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4-5. MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 6. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). MUR 7609 Compl. (May 9, 2019). 
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	1 The Trump Committee replies to both the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the 2 Complaint in MUR 7609, stating that its statement did not constitute soliciting or directing a 3 contribution and therefore did not violate the Act.4 As discussed below, the Commission dismisses the allegations in the original MUR 7340 5 Complaint that the Trump Committee violated the soft money provisions of 52 U.S.C. § 30125 6 and dismisses the allegation that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116, 30118, and 7 3
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	10 solicitation to hard money, as alleged in the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the 11 Complaint in MUR 7609. 12 II. FACTS 13 AF Policies is a 501(c)(4) nonprofit organization, incorporated on January 27, 2017; it is 14 not registered with the Commission as a political committee.  Brian O. Walsh, president of AF 15 Policies, reportedly stated that “America First Policies exists for one reason:  to support the 16 President of the United States and his agenda.”  According to news reports cited by the 17 
	10
	campaign, including Parscale.
	11

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
	10 
	lewandowki.html
	https://www nytimes.com/2017/12/21/us/politics/trump-stepien
	-



	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19.  In addition to Parscale, the other reported founders of AF Policies were Trump’s 2016 deputy campaign managers Rick Gates and David Bossie, campaign advisors Nicholas Ayers and Marty Obst, and senior campaign advisor Katrina Pierson. Id. 
	11 
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	1 Policies was “largely inactive” and had no board of directors until April 2017, when it named 2   Information also indicates that Walsh has never 3 held a position with the Trump campaign or administration.  AF Policies has made independent 4 expenditures in federal elections and, according to the MUR 7340 Complaint, has also solicited 5 6 The committee was 7 founded in April 2017 at the direction of AF Policies president Walsh, who also became 8 president of AF Action.  Its original directors were Walsh,
	12
	its board and appointed Walsh as president.
	13
	14
	soft money.
	15 
	AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.
	16 
	director of AF Policies), and Jon Proch (who also serves as AF Action’s treasurer).
	17 

	10 as an IEOPC, has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in 11 excess of contribution limits and from sources that otherwise would be prohibited; AF Action 12 reported more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal elections in 13 2017.
	18 

	AF Policies did not report any activity to the Commission until June 6, 2017, when it made independent expenditures opposing the candidacy of Jonathan Ossoff for Congress.  AF Policies 24-Hour Report (June 7, 2017). 
	12 

	The Commission also possesses information that its original Board of Directors of AF Policies consisted of Nicholas Ayers, Douglas Ammerman and Thomas Hicks, Jr.  Subsequently, Roy Bailey replaced Ayers, who had taken a position in the Trump administration in July 2017, and Harold Hamm replaced Ammerman, who had resigned in November 2017. 
	13 

	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). 
	14 
	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109.  The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id. 
	15 

	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). 
	16 

	The Commission possesses information indicating that Ayers resigned in July 2017 to join the Trump administration as Pence’s chief of staff.  Proch also resigned as a director and now serves only as treasurer of AF Action.  Ayers and Proch were replaced on AF Action’s Board by Roy Bailey and Thomas Hicks, Jr., who also serve as AF Policies directors. 
	17 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	18 
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	1 The Trump Committee is Trump’s principal campaign committee for president.  In 2 February 2018, Parscale, who was also the Digital and Data Director for the 2016 Trump 3   In its response, the 4 Trump Committee denies that it has any role in the governance or activities of AF Policies or AF 5 6 At 7 various times, Parscale Strategy has been retained as a consultant by AF Policies, AF Action, and 8 The Commission also possesses information that Parscale Strategy’s 9 contracts with AF Action and AF Policies
	campaign, was named campaign manager for the 2020 Trump campaign.
	19
	Action.
	20 
	Parscale Strategy, LLC is a political consulting firm owned by Bradley Parscale.
	21 
	the Trump Committee.
	22 

	10 campaign manager. 11 Since the 2016 election, the MUR 7340 Complaint alleges, the RNC has expended 12 The RNC 13 acknowledges the reduction, but states that this is a result of its extensive investments in other 14   The MUR 7340 15 Complaint alleges that the Trump Committee has likewise not made disbursements for polling 16   On the other hand, AF Policies has reportedly spent extensively 
	significantly less on polling than it has during previous Republican administrations.
	23 
	kinds of data that have replaced much of its need for traditional polling.
	24
	for his reelection campaign.
	25

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 12.  Reports filed with the Commission indicate that Parscale was on payroll for the 2016 Trump campaign and that another firm in which he is a partner, Giles-Parscale, was the number one recipient of disbursements from the 2016 Trump campaign, receiving nearly $88 million in disbursements. See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, .  On July 15, 2020, Trump announced that he was replacing Parscale as campaign manager, but that Parscale would remain with the 
	19 
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016
	https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016

	https://www.facebook.com/DonaldTrump/posts/10165094743505725
	https://www.facebook.com/DonaldTrump/posts/10165094743505725


	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 3. 
	20 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 37. 
	21 

	See MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4. 
	22 
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	1 on polling regarding Trump and his policies and it has made much of this data available through 
	2 what the MUR 7340 Complaint characterizes as an “obscure” link on AF Policies’
	 homepage.
	26 

	3 The MUR 7340 Complaint alleges that AF Policies has used several polling firms with 
	4 relationships to the Trump Committee, including a polling firm that was owned by Trump’s 2016 
	5 
	campaign manager Kellyanne Conway.
	27 

	6 On May 7, 2019, the Trump Committee issued a statement criticizing “scam groups” 
	7 raising funds by “deceptively us[ing] the President’s name, likeness, trademarks, or branding.”
	28 

	8 The statement continued, asserting that: 
	9 There are only four official fundraising organizations 10 authorized by President Trump or the RNC: Donald J. Trump for 11 President, the Republican National Committee, and two joint 12 fundraising committees with the RNC, The Make America Great 13 Again Committee (TMAGAC) and Trump Victory.  In addition, 14 there is one approved outside non-campaign group, America First 15 Action, which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted 16 
	supporter of President Trump’s policies and agendas.
	29 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 49; Christina Wilkie, Dark Money Group America First Policies Is Running a Pro-Trump Polling Operation, CNBC (Mar. 1, 2018) (“Wilkie, Dark Money”), 
	23 

	. 
	. 
	https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/01/america-first-policies-dark-money-polling-for-trump html


	Wilkie, Dark Money (quoting an RNC official stating, “Since 2013, we’ve spent $250 million to gather information through voter scoring, and we have a huge amount of information that informs these scores. . . .  So, we don’t really pay for traditional polling anymore.  We rely on this data, instead.”). 
	24 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money).  Trump Committee disclosure reports indicate one expenditure for “polling expenses” through mid-2018 to Gage Group – G2 Analytics for $74,583.  Trump Committee 2017 April Quarterly Report at 54969 (July 20, 2017). 
	25 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 45-50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money (reporting that AF Policies admitted to sharing their polling and putting it up on their homepage, but then removed much of the polling data from the website after being asked about it by CNBC)).  The polling information could be found by following a small link at the bottom of AF Policies’ homepage link entitled “data.”  See . AF Action also posts polling information in a similar fashion. See . 
	26 
	/
	https://www.americafirstpolicies.org/data

	/
	https://www.a1apac.org/data


	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 46.  Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using it. Id. 
	27 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
	28 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
	29 
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	1 2 The MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the MUR 7609 Complaint allege that, via 3 this statement, the Trump Committee solicited funds for or directed funds to AF Action without 4 The Trump Committee responds that its 5 statement was not a solicitation or direction to contribute to AF Action but rather it “merely 6 provid[ed] the identity of an appropriate recipient, without any attempt to motivate another 7 person to contribute or donate funds.”8 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	limiting this solicitation or direction to hard money.
	30 
	31 

	9 A. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee 10 Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Establishing, Financing, Maintaining, or 11 Controlling AF Policies or AF Action 12 13 The Complaint in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and the Trump Committee 
	14 violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by establishing, financing, maintaining, or 15 controlling AF Policies and AF Action, which solicited, received, and spent soft money.  In 16 support of its allegation, the MUR 7340 Complaint, relying on media reports, makes six 17 assertions:  (1) that Kellyanne Conway, former 2016 Trump campaign manager, publicly stated 18 that an organization will be formed and needs to be run by someone “close to the President”;19 (2) that AF Policies was founded by a gr
	32 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3; MUR 7609 Compl. at 5-8. 
	30 

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (quoting Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13,926, 13,933 (Mar. 20, 2006) (“Solicitation E&J”)). MUR 7609 Trump Committee Resp. (same).  The Trump Committee and AF Action/AF Policies Responses also note that the Complainant, Paul S. Ryan, publicly stated that “[p]ointing to a super Pac and saying, ‘That’s the one I approve of’ doesn’t break the law.”  MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (citing Zach Montellaro, POLITICO (May 8, 2019), 
	31 

	). 
	pac-614412
	https://www.politico.com/newsletters/morning-score/2019/05/08/wheres-the-line-between-a-campaign-and-super
	-


	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 88. 
	32 
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	1 Parscale and Obst;(3) that Trump’s son-in-law, Jared Kushner, gave Parscale his “blessing” to 2 head AF Policies;(4) that consultants, including Parscale and Corey Lewandowski, Trump’s 3 former 2016 campaign manager, worked for both the Trump Committee and AF Policies or AF 4 Action;(5) that AF Policies and AF Action staff regularly communicated with Trump and his 5 campaign based on a media report of a number of individuals including Parscale and 6 Lewandowski meeting with White House staff regarding the
	33 
	34 
	35 
	36
	37 

	10 Directors from two months after its founding.  Only one of the reported “founders” of AF 11 Policies actually held a position on the Board of Directors:  Nicholas Ayers, a campaign advisor 12 to Pence who stepped down from his board position at AF Policies when he became Pence’s 13 chief of staff on July 28, 2017.  The Commission also possesses information that the first and 14 only president of AF Policies and AF Action, Brian O. Walsh, has never held any role with the 15 Trump campaign or administratio
	38

	Id. ¶ 90; see supra n.13. Id. ¶ 89. Id. ¶¶ 23, 90, 93. Id. ¶ 94. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3. See Vice President Pence (@VP), TWITTER (July 28, 2017 11:37 AM), 
	33 
	34 
	35 
	36 
	37 
	38 

	(“Congrats to @Nick_Ayers for being sworn-in as my Chief of Staff.  Excited to welcome you & great having your family at @WhiteHouse today.”). Attachment 8 of 9 Page 8 of 23 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
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	1 the entities and that the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or 2 other decision-making employees” of AF Policies and AF Action resides with Walsh and the 3 Board of Directors.  4 The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 5 or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of one or 6 more candidates or individuals holding federal office, from “solicit[ing], receiv[ing], direct[ing], 7
	39 

	10 was designed to “plug the soft-money loophole.”11 To determine whether a candidate or his or her agent “directly or indirectly establishes, 12 finances, maintains, or controls” an entity, the Commission considers a non-exhaustive list of ten 13 factors set forth in 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2), including:  (1) whether the candidate or his agent has 14 the authority to “direct or participate in the governance of the entity through provisions of 15 constitutions, bylaws, contracts, or other rules, or through fo
	40 
	41
	42 

	52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.61. McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 133 (2003). 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(ii). Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(iii). 
	39 
	40 
	41 
	42 
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	1 or ongoing relationship” between the candidate or his agent and the entity;(4) whether directly 2 or through its agent, the candidate had an “active or significant role in the formation of the 3 entity”;as well as any other relevant factors, in the context of the overall relationship between 4 5 An “agent” of a federal candidate or officeholder is “any person who has actual authority, 6 either express or implied,” “to solicit, receive, direct, transfer, or spend funds in connection with 7 any election.”  
	43 
	44 
	the federal candidate or officeholder, or his agent, and the entity.
	45 
	46
	47 

	10 The establishment of AF Policies was allegedly effected by a group of “founders” who 11   Considering their 12 titles, including two deputy campaign managers (Rick Gates and David Bossie), it appears likely 13 that at least some of these founders were agents of Trump and the Trump Committee during the 14 2016 But the available information is insufficient to support a reasonable inference 
	previously held high-ranking positions with the 2016 Trump campaign.
	48
	campaign.
	49 

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(v), (vi). 
	43 

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(ix). 
	44 

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2); see Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo) at 3. 
	45 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3).  An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,975-76 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”); Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	46 

	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. 
	47 

	See supra n.13. 
	48 

	Notably, no facts have been asserted establishing what, if any, role these individuals had in the 2020 Trump campaign (other than Parscale, who became campaign manager in February 2018), or whether any agency authority that was established in the 2016 campaign still existed after that election, or particularly on January 27, 2017, when AF Policies was formed. 
	49 
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	1 
	1 
	that any of these individuals was acting at the direction of Trump or the Trump Committee when 

	2 
	2 
	they reportedly formed AF Policies in January 2017.  Parscale was the only one of the reported 

	3 
	3 
	founders on the payroll of the Trump Committee around the time that AF Policies was formed. 

	4 
	4 
	His last paycheck was dated four days after the founding of AF Policies but appears to be for a 

	5 
	5 
	partial pay period as it is about half of the amount he was paid bi-weekly for the prior bi-weekly 

	6 
	6 
	periods.50
	  Thus, it appears his personal employment by the Committee ended just prior to the 

	7 
	7 
	formation of AF Policies.  Even if Parscale was employed by the Trump Committee at the time 

	8 
	8 
	of the founding of AF Policies, his role was Digital and Data Director and there is not sufficient 

	9 
	9 
	evidence to conclude that he had become an agent by virtue of, for instance, soliciting 

	10 
	10 
	contributions on behalf of the Trump Committee.51 

	11 
	11 
	As for AF Action, it was formed by Walsh, who is not alleged to be an agent of Trump or 

	12 
	12 
	the Trump Committee.  One of AF Action’s original board members, Ayers, worked on the 2016 

	13 
	13 
	Trump campaign and was potentially therefore an agent of Trump and the Trump Committee in 

	14 
	14 
	2016, but the available information does not support the claim that he continued to be an agent of 

	15 
	15 
	Trump or the Trump Committee in April 2017 when AF Action was established.   

	16 
	16 
	As noted above, the Trump Committee and AF Policies and AF Action have several 

	17 
	17 
	overlapping current and former employees and vendors.  Parscale, whose company was retained 

	18 
	18 
	by all three entities, was employed in high-ranking positions by both the 2016 and 2020 Trump 

	TR
	50 See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016.  Thereafter, Parscale’s firm continued to receive disbursements from the Trump Committee. Id. 51 The MUR 7340 Complaint’s suggestion that Trump established AF Policies by hiring Parscale to lead it, via Jared Kushner’s “blessing” is conclusory and unsupported. See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 15.  Even assuming that Kushner was an agent of Trump, the media report alone does
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	1 
	1 
	campaigns and was a reported founder of AF Policies.  Lewandowski has also held positions 

	2 
	2 
	with both the Trump Committee in 2016, as campaign manager, and with AF Policies and AF 

	3 
	3 
	Action, as a consultant.  A number of other individuals including Ayers also had roles with the 

	4 
	4 
	Trump Committee in 2016 and were allegedly founders of AF Policies.  But as the Commission 

	5 
	5 
	has stated previously, “more than the mere fact of such informal, ongoing relationships between 

	6 
	6 
	the personnel of the potentially sponsoring and potentially sponsored entity is necessary to 

	7 
	7 
	support a conclusion of ‘establishment, financing, maintenance or control.’”52  Instead, to 

	8 
	8 
	establish a violation based on overlapping employees and officers, the overlap must “indicate[] 

	9 
	9 
	formal or ongoing relationship.”53 The information indicating that Ayers left his position at AF 

	10 
	10 
	Policies when he joined the administration indicates the end of a formal relationship with an 

	11 
	11 
	overlapping employee.  AF Policies’ and AF Action’s decision to terminate the contract of 

	12 
	12 
	Parscale’s firm when he was named Trump’s 2020 campaign manager further undermines the 

	13 
	13 
	existence of a formal relationship by not retaining, even as a vendor, an employee of the Trump 

	14 
	14 
	Committee. 

	15 
	15 
	Moreover, “while former employers and colleagues may exercise influence, influence is 

	16 
	16 
	not necessarily control.”54  Here, formal control under the bylaws of AF Policies and AF Action, 

	17 
	17 
	including the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or other 

	18 
	18 
	decision-making employees,” rests with the Board of Directors and the president of the 


	52 
	Factual & Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 8, MUR 6280 (Howard L. Berman). 
	53 
	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(v). 
	54 
	F&LA at 8, MUR 6280. 
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	1 organization, and there is no information indicating that hiring did not occur in accordance with 2 this stated process. 3 Finally, Complainants note in the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint that the allegation 4 that Trump and the Trump Committee violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by 5 establishing, financing, maintaining, or controlling AF Policies and AF Action is supported by 6 the additional evidence that the Trump Committee made a public statement regarding 7 fundraising, stating that AF A
	55
	56 

	10 11 In short, the available information is insufficient to give rise to a reasonable inference that 12 AF Policies or AF Action was established, financed, maintained, or controlled by Trump or the 13 Trump Committee.  Accordingly, the Commission dismisses these allegations that the Trump 14 Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 
	establish that the AF Action was EFMC’d by Trump or the Trump Committee.
	57 

	See supra n.51; F&LA at 4, MUR 7070 (Congressional Leadership Fund, et al.) (“However, the quoted statement that ‘Fink was personally approached by House Speaker Paul Ryan to take the job’ does not, by itself, support a reasonable inference that Ryan had the ‘authority or ability to hire’ Fink under section 300.2(c)(2)(iii).”); cf. Advisory Op. 2003-12 (Flake) (concluding that a candidate “established” an entity for purposes of 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2) on the basis that the candidate was among the individual
	55 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 1-4. 
	56 

	Among the EFMC factors set forth in the Commission’s regulations is that a candidate or officeholder “causes or arranges for funds in a significant amount or on an ongoing basis to be provided to the entity.”  11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(viii).  In the present matter, AF Action disclosed the receipt of contributions totaling $2.7 million in the month before the Trump Committee statement and $1.3 million in the month after the statement. See AF Action 2019 Mid-Year Report (July 31, 2019). 
	57 
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	1 B. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee, 2 Though its Agent, Brad Parscale, Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Raising Soft 3 Money for AF Policies or AF Action 4 5 The MUR 7340 Complaint alleges, “[b]ased on published reports,” that Parscale solicited 
	6 7 While the Act restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal 8 funds, “[it] does not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from also raising non9 federal funds for other political parties or outside groups.”  The Commission has also observed 
	soft money for AF Policies and AF Action as an agent of Trump or the Trump Committee.
	58 
	-
	59

	10 that individuals who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate committee must 11 solicit non-federal funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request 12 or suggestion’ of federal candidates.”13 Assuming, arguendo, that Parscale was an agent of the Trump Committee at some time 14 after the formation of AF Policies and before being named Trump’s campaign manager in 2018, 15 the record does not support a reasonable inference that Parscale solicited funds for either
	60 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 111; see also id. ¶¶ 33, 37 (detailing reported disbursements to Parscale’s company for “digital fundraising consulting,” among other purposes). 
	58 

	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979. 
	59 

	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (“AO 2015-09”) (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform pot
	60 

	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) Factual & Legal Analysis Page 15 of 23 
	1 information fails to give rise to a reasonable inference that a violation has occurred, the 2 Commission dismisses these allegations that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 3 C. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee 
	4 Violated the Act by Receiving Unreported Contributions in the Form of 5 Coordinated Expenditures 6 7 The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that AF Policies conducted polls on voter perceptions 
	8 of Trump and his policies in coordination with the Trump Committee, resulting in an unreported 
	9 The Complaint bases its allegation on 10 the following facts:  (1) the Trump Committee reported no disbursements for polling during the 11 relevant period, and the RNC’s reported polling expenses decreased relative to prior years during 12 the relevant period;(2) AF Policies used a polling firm owned by presidential advisor 13 Kellyanne Conway;(3) AF Policies consultants Parscale and Lewandowski reportedly attended 14 a meeting at the White House to discuss the 2018 mid-term elections; and (4) AF Policies
	and excessive in-kind contribution to the Committee.
	61 
	62 
	63 
	64
	after reporters inquired about the polls.
	65 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 137-145. Id. ¶¶ 49-50, 144. Id. ¶ 46.  Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using 
	61 
	62 
	63 

	it. Id. Id. ¶ 139. Id. ¶¶ 47-48. 
	64 
	65 
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	1 officer or director of AF Policies was at the meeting.  Moreover, there is no available information 2 indicating that the polling conducted by AF Policies was discussed. 3 Under the Commission’s regulations, any expenditures that are made in cooperation, 4 consultation or in concert with, or at the request or suggestion of a candidate or a candidate’s 5 authorized committee, but that are not coordinated communications, party coordinated 6 communications, or coordinated party expenditures, are in-kind cont
	and must be reported as an expenditure by that candidate.
	66 

	10 Complaint.  Specifically, the available information is insufficient to demonstrate that AF Policies 11 and the Trump campaign acted in cooperation, consultation, or in concert in conducting the 12 polling.  For example, though the MUR 7340 Complaint mentions the involvement of the 13 company of Trump’s advisor, Conway, in the polling, it presents no allegation that Conway had 14 any personal knowledge of or involvement in AF Policies’ polling activity.  Nor is there enough 15 information to conclude that
	11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(7)(B); see also 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b) (describing circumstances in which non-connected committee’s purchase of poll results to make expenditures and candidate committee’s subsequent acceptance of poll results is in-kind contribution to that candidate committee); Campaign Guide for Nonconnected Committees at 25, (“a committee makes an in-kind contribution when it: Pays for consulting, polling or printing services provided to a candidate committee”).  
	66 
	https://www fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/nongui.pdf 
	https://www fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/nongui.pdf 
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	1 
	1 
	not support a reasonable inference that there was coordination on the polling.  Accordingly, the 

	2 
	2 
	Commission dismisses the allegation that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116, 

	3 
	3 
	30118, and 30104(b) by accepting and failing to report prohibited or excessive in-kind 

	4 
	4 
	contributions. 

	5 
	5 
	D. 
	The Commission Finds Reason to Believe that the Trump Committee 

	6 
	6 
	Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Soliciting Soft Money Via the Committee’s 

	7 
	7 
	Statement Issued May 7, 2019 

	8 
	8 

	9 
	9 
	Finally, the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the MUR 7609 Complaint allege 

	10 
	10 
	that a statement issued by the Trump Committee solicited soft money for or directed soft money 

	11 
	11 
	contributions to AF Action in violation of section 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61.67 

	12 
	12 
	The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 

	13 
	13 
	or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of federal 

	14 
	14 
	candidates and officeholders, from soliciting funds in connection with a federal election “unless 

	15 
	15 
	the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of the Act.”68 

	16 
	16 
	The Act limits contributions to non-authorized, non-party committees to $5,000 in any calendar 

	17 
	17 
	year.69  Although an IEOPC may accept contributions from corporations and individuals without 


	67 
	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl.; MUR 7609 Compl.; see 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e); 11 C.F.R. 300.61. 
	68 
	See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ 300.60, 300.61. 
	69 
	52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(1)(C). 
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	1 regard to that $5,000 limitation, federal officeholders and candidates may only solicit up to 2 3 Through regulation, the Commission has defined “to solicit” broadly to mean “to ask, 4 request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, 5 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”  The regulation further 6 provides that a “solicitation” is “an oral or written communication that, construed as reasonably 7 understood in the context in which it
	70
	$5,000 from permissible sources on behalf of such a committee.
	71 
	72
	73 

	10 In 2006, the Commission revised the definition of “to solicit” following a decision by the 
	11 United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit in Shays v. FEC holding that 
	12 the Commission’s former regulation, promulgated in 2002, was too narrow and failed to include 
	13 “implicit requests for money.”  In promulgating the revised definition, the Commission 
	74

	14 explained that the revision is broad in order to “ensure[] that candidates and parties may not, 
	15 implicitly and indirectly, raise unregulated funds for either themselves, or subject to statutory 
	 FEC, 599 F.3d 686, 696 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (en banc) (holding that contribution limits are unconstitutional as applied to individuals’ contributions to political committees that only make independent expenditures); Advisory Op. 2010-11 (Common Sense Ten) (“AO 2010-11”) (concluding that corporations, labor organizations, political committees, and individuals may each make unlimited contributions to IEOPCs). 
	70 
	See SpeechNow.org v.

	See Advisory Op. 2011-12 (Majority PAC) at 3 (“AO 2011-12”) (determining that solicitation restrictions under 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A) remain applicable to contributions solicited by federal candidates, officeholders, and other covered persons); Conciliation Agreement ¶ ¶ 7, 8, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (“CA”) (same); F&LA at 11, MURs 6563 and 6733 (Rep. Aaron Schock). 
	71 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Prohibited and Excessive Contributions: Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money, 67 Fed. Reg. 49,064, 49,086 (July 29, 2002) (defining “to solicit” as to “ask another person to make a contribution or donation, or transfer of funds, or to provide anything of value, including through a conduit or intermediary”). 
	72 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928 (Mar. 20, 2006). 
	73 

	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,927 (quoting Shays v. FEC, 414 F.3d 76, 104-06 (D.C. Cir. 2005)). 
	74 

	Attachment 8 of 9 Page 18 of 23 
	MURs 7340 & 7609 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) Factual & Legal Analysis Page 19 of 23 
	1 exceptions, ‘friendly outsiders.’”The Commission further stated:  “By covering implicit and 2 indirect requests and recommendations, the new definition forecloses parties and candidates from 3 using circumlocutions ‘that make their intentions clear without overtly “asking” for money’” and 4 “also squarely addresses the central concern of the Court of Appeals in Shays that ‘indirect’ as 5 well as ‘direct’” requests for funds or anything of value must be covered.”6 The standard for determining whether a com
	75 
	76 
	recipients.
	77
	78

	10 context of a communication is often important because words that would not, by their literal 11 meaning, convey a solicitation, may in some contexts be reasonably understood as one.”12 Conversely, “words that would by their plain meaning normally be understood as a solicitation, 13 may not be a solicitation when considered in context, such as when the words are used as part of 14 a joke or parody.”
	79 
	80 

	Id. at 13,928 (quoting Shays, 414 F.3d at 106). 
	75 

	Id. 
	76 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928. 
	77 

	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,929. 
	78 

	Solicitation E&J at 13,929. For instance, it is not a solicitation for a candidate to simply state: “Joe, X is a very worthy organization.  It has always been very helpful to me.”  Id.  On the other hand, context could render the same statement by the candidate a solicitation.  For example, if Joe is introduced to the candidate by a fundraiser for the organization saying: “I’ve been trying to persuade Joe to commit to giving X another $50,000.  Wouldn’t that be great, Senator?”, then, because of the context
	79 

	Id. (citing Phantom Touring, Inc. v. Affiliated Publ’ns, 953 F.2d 724, 727 (1st Cir. 1992) (providing as an example the point that no reasonable listener would understand a theater critic who wrote “[t]he producer who decided to charge admission for that show is committing highway robbery” to be accusing the producer of the actual crime of robbery)); see F&LA, MUR 6939 (Mike Huckabee, et al.); F&LA, MUR 7135 (Donald Trump for President Inc., et al.). 
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	1 The Trump Committee’s one-page “Statement on Dishonest Fundraising Groups” 2 “condemns any organization that deceptively uses the President’s name, likeness, trademarks or 3 branding and confuses voters.”The Statement continues, stating that “[t]here is no excuse for 4 any group, including ones run by people who claim to be part of our ‘coalition,’ to suggest they 5 directly support President Trump’s re-election or any other candidates, when in fact their actions 6 show they are interested in filling thei
	81 
	82 

	10 First Action, which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted supporter of President 11 Trump’s policies and agendas.”12 The warning against “organization[s] that deceptively use[] the President’s name” to 13 fundraise creates a context in which the later parts of the Trump Committee statement must be 14 read.  In this context, which the statement itself expressly frames to be about “fundraising 15 organizations,” AF Action is identified as the “one approved outside non-campaign group” and 16 as
	83 
	instead.
	84 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. During the 2016 election cycle, 45 outside committees made independent expenditures in support of Donald 
	81 
	82 
	83 
	84 

	Trump, according to Commission records.  The Trump Committee in its statement identifies a single outside committee “approved” for the 2020 election. 
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	1 The Trump Committee asserts that it “merely provid[ed] the identity of an appropriate 2 recipient, without any attempt to motivate another person to contribute or donate funds” and that 3 such a statement does not constitute a “solicitation” or “direction” under the Act.  The Trump 4 Committee statement, however, does not merely provide the name of an entity to which a 5 contributor could give.  First, the Trump Committee’s statement explains that there are a number 6 of unnamed groups to which individual
	85

	10 whole contains a clear message recommending that the reader contribute to the authorized and 11 approved fundraising organizations12 Moreover, the paragraph listing the authorized and approved groups begins “[t]here are 13 only four official fundraising organizations.”  Even though AF Action is also described as a 14 “trusted supporter of President Trump’s policies and agendas,” the subject of the statement — 15 entitled “Trump Campaign Statement on Dishonest Fundraising Groups” — is not mere 16 electora
	 and not contribute to other groups.
	86 
	87
	and five identified authorized or approved groups.
	88

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (quoting Solicitation E&J at 13,933). 
	85 

	The language in the Trump Committee Statement is in line with several of the “solicitation” examples in the Commission’s regulations. See, e.g., 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(iii) (“Group X has always helped me financially in my elections.  Keep them in mind this fall”); (iii) (“Send all contributions to the following address * * * *”); (ix) (“You have reached the limit of what you may contribute directly to my campaign, but you can further help my campaign by assisting the State party.”). 
	86 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (emphasis added); MUR 7609 Compl. at 3 (same). 
	87 

	See Solicitation E&J at 13,928 (“The sheer number of interaction and similarity in the messages for these purposes may sometimes give rise to situations where a candidate’s request for electoral or legislative support is Attachment 8 of 9 Page 21 of 23 
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	1 person would understand it in its context, constitutes a recommendation to contribute to AF 
	2 
	Action and thus is a solicitation.
	89 

	3 If a federal candidate or an agent, such as a principal campaign committee, solicits money 
	4 The 
	to an IEOPC, that solicitation must comply with the Act’s amount and source limitations.
	90 

	5 Trump Committee statement contained no such limitation.  Indeed, as the sole “approved” 
	6 Trump-supporting IEOPC identified, the message conveys that AF Action is the only approved 
	7 Discussing 
	destination for unlimited individual and corporate contributions supporting Trump.
	91 

	8 similar solicitations made by candidates at fundraising events for groups that may accept non
	-

	9 federal funds, the Commission has concluded that “any solicitation that is not limited either by its 
	10 express terms or otherwise (such as through a clear and conspicuous oral statement or written 
	11 notice) risks being understood as soliciting donations in amounts and from sources prohibited 
	misconstrued as a request for financial support. . . .  Absent a requirement that a communication contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person provide funds or something of value, such a statement might be inappropriately captured by the definition of ‘to solicit.’”); id. at 13,929 (“[R]egulations must encompass a communication that ‘makes [a candidate’s or political party’s] intention clear without overtly ‘asking’ for money . . . if imaginative advertisers are able to m
	See F&LA at 2, 6, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (finding reason to believe that Cruz for President impermissibly solicited soft money when an agent of the committee told fundraiser attendees that “the method to our madness is this:  you max out [to Respondent] and then get engaged in the Super PAC,” identifying a particular IEOPC with a table at the fundraiser); CA ¶ IV.5, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (same).  On the other hand, in AO 1984-02 the Commission approved of Friends of Phil Gramm (the authorized
	89 

	52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(B); see AO 2011-12 at 4. 
	90 

	Advisory Op. 2010-11 (Commonsense Ten) at 2-3. 
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	1 under the Act. . . .”  Indeed, Commission regulations provide guidance as to language that can 2 be included in a solicitation at a fundraising event so that it is appropriately limited to federal 3 The Trump Committee’s solicitation included no disclaimer or restriction of any kind 4 limiting the solicitation to federal funds, and its distinction between the four “authorized” hard 5 money recipients and AF Action as the “one outside non-campaign group” conveys that AF 6 Action is an IEOPC that may receiv
	92
	funds.
	93 
	94

	Participation by Federal Candidates and Officeholders a Non-Federal Fundraising Events. 75 Fed Reg. 24,375, 24,380 (May 5, 2010). 
	92 

	See 11 C.F.R. § 300.64(b)(2)(i) (“A Federal candidate or officeholder may limit such a solicitation by displaying at the fundraising event a clear and conspicuous written notice, or making a clear and conspicuous oral statement, that the solicitation is not for Levin funds (when applicable), does not seek funds in excess of $ [Federally permissible amount], and does not seek funds from corporations, labor organizations, national banks, federal government contractors, or foreign nationals.”). 
	93 

	Notably, the donation page on AF Action’s website, includes a prefilled option to donate $20,000, an amount in excess of the hard money contribution limits. See . 
	94 
	https://secure.a1apac.org/donate
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	10 I. INTRODUCTION 11 The Complaint filed in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and his authorized 12 campaign committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. (“Trump Committee”) established, 13 financed, maintained, or controlled (“EFMC’d”) America First Policies (“AF Policies”), a 14 501(c)(4) organization, and America First Action (“AF Action”), an independent expenditure15 only political committee (“IEOPC”), and that both organizations allegedly solicited, received, 16 and spent soft money in violation
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	Figure
	1 The Trump Committee denies these allegations, arguing that:  (1) Trump and the Trump 2 Committee had no role in the creation of, and have no role in the operation of, AF Policies or AF 3 Action; (2) no agent of a federal candidate or officeholder solicited, received, or spent soft 4 money for AF Action or AF Policies on behalf of a federal candidate or officeholder; and (3) 5 AF Policies did not coordinate with the Trump campaign regarding polling.6 The Complainants in MUR 7340 later filed a supplement to
	4
	5
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	10 outside non-campaign group, America First Action.”The Complainants allege that this 11 statement further supports their prior allegations as well as constitutes an independent violation 12 by soliciting funds outside the federal limits and prohibitions.  A separate complaint, filed in 13 MUR 7609, makes the similar allegation that this statement violates the Act by soliciting and 14 directing contributions outside the limits and prohibitions of the Act in violation of 52 U.S.C. 15 § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R
	7 
	8 

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 3 (Apr. 30, 2018). MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4-5. MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 6. MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). MUR 7609 Compl. (May 9, 2019). 
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	Figure
	1 The Trump Committee replies to both the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the 2 Complaint in MUR 7609, stating that its statement did not constitute soliciting or directing a 3 contribution and therefore did not violate the Act.4 As discussed below, the Commission dismisses the allegations in the original MUR 7340 5 Complaint that the Trump Committee violated the soft money provisions of 52 U.S.C. § 30125 6 and dismisses the allegation that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116, 30118, and 7 3
	9 

	10 its solicitation to hard money, as alleged in the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the 11 Complaint in MUR 7609. 12 II. FACTS 13 AF Policies is a 501(c)(4) nonprofit organization, incorporated on January 27, 2017..  14 According to news reports cited by the MUR 7340 Complaint, the organization was founded by 15 The Commission possesses 16 information indicating that AF Policies was “largely inactive” and had no board of directors 17 
	several alumni of the Trump 2016 campaign, including Parscale.
	10 
	11
	until April 2017, when it named its board and appointed Brian O. Walsh as president.
	12 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. In addition to Parscale, the other reported founders of AF Policies were Trump’s 2016 deputy campaign managers Rick Gates and David Bossie, campaign advisors Nicholas Ayers and Marty Obst, and senior campaign advisor Katrina Pierson. Id. 
	10 

	AF Policies did not report any activity to the Commission until June 6, 2017, when it made independent expenditures opposing the candidacy of Jonathan Ossoff for Congress. AF Policies 24-Hour Report (June 7, 2017). 
	11 

	The Commission also possesses information that its original Board of Directors of AF Policies consisted of Nicholas Ayers, Douglas Ammerman and Thomas Hicks, Jr. Subsequently, Roy Bailey replaced Ayers, who had Attachment 8 of 9 Page 3 of 20 
	12 
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	Figure
	1 Information also indicates that Walsh has never held a position with the Trump campaign or 2 administration. AF Policies has made independent expenditures in federal elections and, 3 4 The committee was 5 founded in April 2017 at the direction of AF Policies president Walsh, who also became 6 president of AF Action.  Its original directors were Walsh, Nicholas Ayers (who also served as a 7 AF Action, 8 as an IEOPC, has received contributions from individuals in amounts that otherwise would be in 9 excess 
	13
	according to the MUR 7340 Complaint, has also solicited soft money.
	14 
	AF Action is registered with the Commission as an IEOPC.
	15 
	director of AF Policies), and Jon Proch (who also serves as AF Action’s treasurer).
	16 

	10 reported more than $1.2 million in independent expenditures to influence federal elections in 11 2017.12 The Trump Committee is Trump’s principal campaign committee for president. In 13 February 2018, Parscale, who was also the Digital and Data Director for the 2016 Trump 14   In its response, the 
	17 
	campaign, was named campaign manager for the 2020 Trump campaign.
	18

	taken a position in the Trump administration in July 2017, and Harold Hamm replaced Ammerman, who had resigned in November 2017. 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept. expenditures). 
	13 
	21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that Parscale solicited soft money for AF Policies, “based on published reports,” but it cites no particular published report for this proposition. Id. 
	14 

	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). 
	15 

	The Commission possesses information indicating that Ayers resigned in July 2017 to join the Trump administration as Pence’s chief of staff. Proch also resigned as a director and now serves only as treasurer of AF Action. Ayers and Proch were replaced on AF Action’s Board by Roy Bailey and Thomas Hicks, Jr., who also serve as AF Policies directors. 
	16 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	17 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 12. Reports filed with the Commission indicate that Parscale was on payroll for the 2016 Trump campaign and that another firm in which he is a partner, Giles-Parscale, was the number one recipient Attachment 8 of 9 Page 4 of 20 
	18 
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	Figure
	1 Trump Committee denies that it has any role in the governance or activities of AF Policies or AF 2 3 At 4 various times, Parscale Strategy has been retained as a consultant by AF Policies, AF Action, 5 The Commission also possesses information that Parscale 6 Strategy’s contracts with AF Action and AF Policies were terminated when Parscale was named 7 2020 campaign manager.  8 Since the 2016 election, AF Policies has reportedly spent extensively on polling 9 regarding Trump and his policies and it has mad
	Action.
	19 
	Parscale Strategy, LLC is a political consulting firm owned by Bradley Parscale.
	20 
	and the Trump Committee.
	21 

	10 The 11 MUR 7340 Complaint alleges that AF Policies has used several polling firms with relationships 12 to the Trump Committee, including a polling firm that was owned by Trump’s 2016 campaign 13 
	MUR 7340 Complaint characterizes as an “obscure” link on AF Policies’ homepage.
	22 
	manager Kellyanne Conway.
	23 

	of disbursements from the 2016 Trump campaign, receiving nearly $88 million in disbursements. See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, . On July 15, 2020, Trump announced that he was replacing Parscale as campaign manager, but that Parscale would remain with the campaign as a senior advisor working on digital and data strategies. Donald J. Trump, Comment to FACEBOOK (July 19, 2020), . 
	https://www fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016
	https://www fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016

	https://www facebook.com/DonaldTrump/posts/10165094743505725
	https://www facebook.com/DonaldTrump/posts/10165094743505725


	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 3. 
	19 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 37. 
	20 

	See MUR 7340 Trump Committee Resp. at 4. 
	21 

	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 45-50 (citing Wilkie, Dark Money (reporting that AF Policies admitted to sharing their polling and putting it up on their homepage, but then removed much of the polling data from the website after being asked about it by CNBC)). The polling information could be found by following a small link at the bottom of AF Policies’ homepage link entitled “data.” See . AF Action also posts polling information in a similar fashion. See . 
	22 
	/
	https://www.americafirstpolicies.org/data

	/
	https://www.a1apac.org/data


	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 46. Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using it. Id. 
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	Figure
	1 On May 7, 2019, the Trump Committee issued a statement criticizing “scam groups” 2 raising funds by “deceptively us[ing] the President’s name, likeness, trademarks, or branding.”3 The statement continued, asserting that: 
	24 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
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	Figure
	1 There are only four official fundraising organizations 2 authorized by President Trump or the RNC: Donald J. Trump for 3 President, the Republican National Committee, and two joint 4 fundraising committees with the RNC, The Make America Great 5 Again Committee (TMAGAC) and Trump Victory.  In addition, 6 there is one approved outside non-campaign group, America First 7 Action, which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted 8 9 
	supporter of President Trump’s policies and agendas.
	25 

	10 The MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the MUR 7609 Complaint allege that, via 
	11 this statement, the Trump Committee solicited funds for or directed funds to AF Action without 
	12   The Trump Committee responds that its 
	limiting this solicitation or direction to hard money.
	26

	13 statement was not a solicitation or direction to contribute to AF Action but rather it “merely 
	14 provid[ed] the identity of an appropriate recipient, without any attempt to motivate another 
	15 person to contribute or donate funds.”
	27 

	16 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	17 A. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee 18 Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Establishing, Financing, Maintaining, or 19 Controlling AF Policies or AF Action 20 21 The Complaint in MUR 7340 alleges that President Trump and the Trump Committee 
	22 violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by establishing, financing, maintaining, or 
	23 controlling AF Policies and AF Action, which solicited, received, and spent soft money.  In 
	24 support of its allegation, the MUR 7340 Complaint, relying on media reports, makes six 
	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
	25 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3; MUR 7609 Compl. at 5-8. 
	26 

	MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (quoting Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13,926, 13,933 (Mar. 20, 2006) (“Solicitation E&J”)). MUR 7609 Trump Committee Resp. (same). The Trump Committee and AF Action/AF Policies Responses also note that the Complainant, Paul S. Ryan, publicly stated that “[p]ointing to a super Pac and saying, ‘That’s the one I approve of’ doesn’t break the law.” MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (citing Zach Montellaro, POLITICO (May 8, 2019), 
	27 

	). 
	pac-614412
	https://www.politico.com/newsletters/morning-score/2019/05/08/wheres-the-line-between-a-campaign-and-super
	-
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	Figure
	1 assertions:  (1) that Kellyanne Conway, former 2016 Trump campaign manager, publicly stated 2 that an organization will be formed and needs to be run by someone “close to the President”;3 (2) that AF Policies was founded by a group of former 2016 Trump campaign aides, including 4 Parscale and Obst; (3) that Trump’s son-in-law, Jared Kushner, gave Parscale his “blessing” to 5 head AF Policies; (4) that consultants, including Parscale and Corey Lewandowski, Trump’s 6 former 2016 campaign manager, worked for
	28 
	29
	30
	31 
	32

	10 the Trump Committee’s statement that AF Action is its “one approved outside non-campaign 11 group.”12 The Commission possesses information about the membership of AF Policies’ Board of 13 Directors from two months after its founding.  Only one of the reported “founders” of AF 14 Policies actually held a position on the Board of Directors:  Nicholas Ayers, a campaign advisor 15 to Pence who stepped down from his board position at AF Policies when he became Pence’s 
	33 

	16 chief of staff on July 28, 2017.
	34 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 88. Id. ¶ 90; see supra n.13. Id. ¶ 89. Id. ¶¶ 23, 90, 93. Id. ¶ 94. 
	28 
	29 
	30 
	31 
	32 

	The Commission also possesses information that the first and 
	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 3. 
	33 

	See Vice President Pence (@VP), TWITTER (July 28, 2017 11:37 AM), (“Congrats to @Nick_Ayers for being sworn-in as my Chief of Staff. Excited to welcome you & great having your family at @WhiteHouse today.”). 
	34 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
	https://twitter.com/VP/status/891004622420287489 
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	Figure
	1 
	1 
	1 
	only president of AF Policies and AF Action, Brian O. Walsh, has never held any role with the 

	2 
	2 
	Trump campaign or administration. 

	3 
	3 
	Information further indicates that the corporate bylaws of both AF Policies and AF 

	4 
	4 
	Action give no authority to Trump or his campaign to direct or participate in the governance of 

	5 
	5 
	the entities and that the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or 

	6 
	6 
	other decision-making employees” of AF Policies and AF Action resides with Walsh and the 

	7 
	7 
	Board of Directors.   

	8 
	8 
	The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 

	9 
	9 
	or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of one or 

	10 
	10 
	more candidates or individuals holding federal office, from “solicit[ing], receiv[ing], direct[ing], 

	11 
	11 
	transfer[ing], or spend[ing] funds in connection with an election for Federal office . . . unless the 

	12 
	12 
	funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of [the] Act.”35 

	13 
	13 
	This provision, among others enacted as part of the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002, 

	14 
	14 
	was designed to “plug the soft-money loophole.”36 

	15 
	15 
	To determine whether a candidate or his or her agent “directly or indirectly establishes, 

	16 
	16 
	finances, maintains, or controls” an entity, the Commission considers a non-exhaustive list of ten 

	17 
	17 
	factors set forth in 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2), including:  (1) whether the candidate or his agent has 

	18 
	18 
	the authority to “direct or participate in the governance of the entity through provisions of 

	19 
	19 
	constitutions, bylaws, contracts, or other rules, or through formal or informal practices or 

	20 
	20 
	procedures”;37 (2) whether the candidate or his agent has “the authority or ability to hire, 

	TR
	35 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 300.61. 

	TR
	36 McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 133 (2003). 

	TR
	37 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(ii). 


	Figure
	1 appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers, or other decision-making employees or 2 members of the entity”; (3) whether former or present “overlapping officers or employees” 3 indicate “a formal or ongoing relationship” between the candidate or his agent and the entity;4 (4) whether directly or through its agent, the candidate had an “active or significant role in the 5 formation of the entity”;as well as any other relevant factors, in the context of the overall 6 7 An “agent” of a federal candida
	38
	39 
	40 
	relationship between the federal candidate or officeholder, or his agent, and the entity.
	41 
	42

	10 authority standard” was to “preserve an individual’s ability to raise funds for multiple 11 organizations.”12 The establishment of AF Policies was allegedly effected by a group of “founders” who 13   However, the 14 available information is insufficient to support a reasonable inference that any of these 15 individuals was acting at the direction of Trump or the Trump Committee when they reportedly 16 formed AF Policies in January 2017.  Parscale was the only one of the reported founders on the 
	43 
	previously held high-ranking positions with the 2016 Trump campaign.
	44

	Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(iii). Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(v), (vi). Id. § 300.2(c)(2)(ix). Id. § 300.2(c)(2); see Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo) at 3. 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3). An agent’s actual authority is created by manifestations of consent (express or 
	38 
	39 
	40 
	41 
	42 

	implied) by the principal to the agent about the agent’s authority to act on the principal’s behalf. See Definitions of ‘Agent’ for BCRA Regulations on Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money and Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 71 Fed. Reg. 4,975, 4,975-76 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“Agent E&J”); Advisory Op. 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979, n.9. See supra n.13. Attachment 8 of 9 Page 10 of 20 
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	Figure
	1 payroll of the Trump Committee around the time that AF Policies was formed.  His last 2 paycheck was dated four days after the founding of AF Policies but appears to be for a partial 3 pay period as it is about half of the amount he was paid bi-weekly for the prior bi-weekly 4   Thus, it appears his personal employment by the Committee ended just prior to the 5 formation of AF Policies.  Even if Parscale was employed by the Trump Committee at the time 6 of the founding of AF Policies, his role was Digital
	periods.
	45
	contributions on behalf of the Trump Committee.
	46 

	10 the Trump Committee.  One of AF Action’s original board members, Ayers, worked on the 2016 11 Trump campaign, but the available information does not support the claim that he was an agent 12 of Trump or the Trump Committee in April 2017 when AF Action was established.   13 As noted above, the Trump Committee and AF Policies and AF Action have several 14 overlapping current and former employees and vendors.  Parscale, whose company was retained 15 by all three entities, was employed in high-ranking positi
	See Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., Spending Summary, by recipient, . Thereafter, Parscale’s firm continued to receive disbursements from the Trump Committee. Id. 
	45 
	https://www fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016
	https://www fec.gov/data/committee/C00580100/?tab=spending&cycle=2016


	The MUR 7340 Complaint’s suggestion that Trump established AF Policies by hiring Parscale to lead it, via Jared Kushner’s “blessing” is conclusory and unsupported. See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 15. See Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,978, n.6 (“Specifically, it is not enough that there is some relationship or contact between the principal and agent; rather, the agent must be acting on behalf of the principal to create potential liability for the principal.”). 
	46 
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	Figure
	1 Trump Committee in 2016 and were allegedly founders of AF Policies.  But as the Commission 2 has stated previously, “more than the mere fact of such informal, ongoing relationships between 3 the personnel of the potentially sponsoring and potentially sponsored entity is necessary to 4 support a conclusion of ‘establishment, financing, maintenance or control.’”  Instead, to 5 establish a violation based on overlapping employees and officers, the overlap must “indicate[] 6 formal or ongoing relationship.”Th
	47
	48 

	10 existence of a formal relationship by not retaining, even as a vendor, an employee of the Trump 11 Committee. 12 Moreover, “while former employers and colleagues may exercise influence, influence is 13 not necessarily control.”  Here, formal control under the bylaws of AF Policies and AF Action, 14 including the authority to “hire, appoint, demote, or otherwise control the officers or other 15 decision-making employees,” rests with the Board of Directors and the president of the 16 organization, and ther
	49
	50

	Factual & Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 8, MUR 6280 (Howard L. Berman). 
	47 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(v). 
	48 

	F&LA at 8, MUR 6280. 
	49 

	See supra n.51; F&LA at 4, MUR 7070 (Congressional Leadership Fund, et al.) (“However, the quoted statement that ‘Fink was personally approached by House Speaker Paul Ryan to take the job’ does not, by itself, support a reasonable inference that Ryan had the ‘authority or ability to hire’ Fink under section 300.2(c)(2)(iii).”); cf. Advisory Op. 2003-12 (Flake) (concluding that a candidate “established” an entity for purposes of 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2) on the basis that the candidate was among the individual
	50 
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	Figure
	1 Finally, Complainants note in the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint that the allegation 2 that Trump and the Trump Committee violated the soft money prohibition of the Act by 3 establishing, financing, maintaining, or controlling AF Policies and AF Action is supported by 4 the additional evidence that the Trump Committee made a public statement regarding 5 fundraising, stating that AF Action is the only “approved outside non-campaign group.”  This 6 statement and the attending circumstances do not appear to
	51
	EFMC’d by Trump or the Trump Committee.
	52 

	10 the Trump Committee.  Accordingly, the Commission dismisses these allegations that the Trump 11 Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125.  12 B. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee, 
	13 Through Brad Parscale, Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Raising Soft Money 14 for AF Policies or AF Action 15 16 The MUR 7340 Complaint alleges, “[b]ased on published reports,” that Parscale solicited 
	17 18 While the Act restricts the ability of federal candidates and officeholders to raise non-federal 19 funds, “[it] does not prohibit individuals who are agents of the foregoing from also raising non
	soft money for AF Policies and AF Action as an agent of Trump or the Trump Committee.
	53 
	-

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 1-4. 
	51 

	Among the EFMC factors set forth in the Commission’s regulations is that a candidate or officeholder “causes or arranges for funds in a significant amount or on an ongoing basis to be provided to the entity.” 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(c)(2)(viii). In the present matter, AF Action disclosed the receipt of contributions totaling $2.7 million in the month before the Trump Committee statement and $1.3 million in the month after the statement. See AF Action 2019 Mid-Year Report (July 31, 2019). 
	52 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶ 111; see also id. ¶¶ 33, 37 (detailing reported disbursements to Parscale’s company for “digital fundraising consulting,” among other purposes). 
	53 
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	Figure
	1 federal funds for other political parties or outside groups.”The Commission has also observed 2 that individuals who are dual agents of both a candidate and a non-candidate committee must 3 solicit non-federal funds for the non-candidate committee “on their own” and “‘not at the request 4 or suggestion’ of federal candidates.”5 The Commission has no indication that Parscale was an agent of the Trump Committee. 6 The record does not support a reasonable inference that Parscale solicited funds for either 7 
	54 
	55 

	10 C. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee 11 Violated the Act by Receiving Unreported Contributions in the Form of 12 Coordinated Expenditures 13 14 The MUR 7340 Complaint asserts that AF Policies conducted polls on voter perceptions 
	15 of Trump and his policies in coordination with the Trump Committee, resulting in an unreported 16   The Complaint bases its allegation on 17 the following facts:  (1) the Trump Committee reported no disbursements for polling during the 18 relevant period, and the RNC’s reported polling expenses decreased relative to prior years during 19 the relevant period;(2) AF Policies used a polling firm owned by presidential advisor 
	and excessive in-kind contribution to the Committee.
	56
	57 

	Agent E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,979. 
	54 

	Advisory Op. 2015-09 (Senate Majority PAC, et al.) at 7-8 (“AO 2015-09”) (approving request to allow agents of a candidate to solicit non-federal funds for other committees where the agents: (1) solicited funds “on their own” and “‘not at the request or suggestion’ of federal candidates”; (2) solicited contributions identifying themselves as raising funds only for the non-candidate committee; (3) would not “use their campaign titles or campaign resources (such as letterhead and email)”; (4) would inform pot
	55 

	MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 137-145. 
	56 

	Id. ¶¶ 49-50, 144. Attachment 8 of 9 Page 14 of 20 
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	Figure
	1 Kellyanne Conway;(3) AF Policies consultants Parscale and Lewandowski reportedly attended 2 a meeting at the White House to discuss the 2018 mid-term elections;and (4) AF Policies 3 posted the polling results at a relatively obscure link on its website and took the results down 4 5 The Trump Committee denies any coordination.  Parscale and Lewandowski may have 6 attended the reported meeting at the White House, but information available to the Commission 7 indicates that their attendance may not have been
	58 
	59 
	after reporters inquired about the polls.
	60 

	10 Under the Commission’s regulations, any expenditures that are made in cooperation, 11 consultation or in concert with, or at the request or suggestion of a candidate or a candidate’s 12 authorized committee, but that are not coordinated communications, party coordinated 13 communications, or coordinated party expenditures, are in-kind contributions to the candidate 14 15 The available information is not sufficient to support the conclusion that AF Policies and 16 the Trump campaign coordinated in connect
	and must be reported as an expenditure by that candidate.
	61 

	Id. ¶ 46. Conway reportedly sold the polling firm approximately two months after AF Policies began using it. Id. 
	58 

	Id. ¶ 139. 
	59 

	Id. ¶¶ 47-48. 
	60 

	11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(7)(B); see also 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b) (describing circumstances in which non-connected committee’s purchase of poll results to make expenditures and candidate committee’s subsequent acceptance of poll results is in-kind contribution to that candidate committee); Campaign Guide for Nonconnected Committees at 25, (“a committee makes an in-kind contribution when it: Pays for consulting, polling or printing services provided to a candidate committee”). 
	61 
	https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/nongui.pdf 
	https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/nongui.pdf 
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	Figure
	1 and the Trump campaign acted in cooperation, consultation, or in concert in conducting the 2 polling.  For example, though the MUR 7340 Complaint mentions the involvement of the 3 company of Trump’s advisor, Conway, in the polling, it presents no allegation that Conway had 4 any personal knowledge of or involvement in AF Policies’ polling activity.  Nor is there enough 5 information to conclude that AF Policies made an in-kind contribution to the Trump campaign 6 by sharing the results of the polling.  Al
	10 not support a reasonable inference that there was coordination on the polling.  Accordingly, the 11 Commission dismisses the allegation that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116, 12 30118, and 30104(b) by accepting and failing to report prohibited or excessive in-kind 13 contributions. 14 D. The Commission Dismisses the Allegation that the Trump Committee 
	15 Violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by Soliciting Soft Money Via the Committee’s 16 Statement Issued May 7, 2019 17 18 Finally, the MUR 7340 Supplemental Complaint and the MUR 7609 Complaint allege 
	19 that a statement issued by the Trump Committee solicited soft money for or directed soft money 20 21 The Act prohibits federal candidates and officeholders, their agents, and entities directly 22 or indirectly established, financed, maintained, or controlled by or acting on behalf of federal 23 candidates and officeholders, from soliciting funds in connection with a federal election “unless 
	contributions to AF Action in violation of section 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61.
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	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl.; MUR 7609 Compl.; see 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e); 11 C.F.R. 300.61. 
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	Figure
	1 the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of the Act.”2 The Act limits contributions to non-authorized, non-party committees to $5,000 in any calendar 3 year.  Although an IEOPC may accept contributions from corporations and individuals without 4 regard to that $5,000 limitation, federal officeholders and candidates may only solicit up to 5 6 Through regulation, the Commission has defined “to solicit” broadly to mean “to ask, 7 request, or recommend, explicitly or 
	63 
	64
	65
	$5,000 from permissible sources on behalf of such a committee.
	66 
	67

	10 understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or 11 recommending that another person make a contribution” and “may be made directly or 12 indirectly” but “does not include mere statements of political support.”13 In 2006, the Commission revised the definition of “to solicit” following a decision by the 14 United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit in Shays v. FEC holding that 
	68 

	See 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ 300.60, 300.61. 
	63 

	52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(1)(C). 
	64 

	FEC, 599 F.3d 686, 696 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (en banc) (holding that contribution limits are unconstitutional as applied to individuals’ contributions to political committees that only make independent expenditures); Advisory Op. 2010-11 (Common Sense Ten) (“AO 2010-11”) (concluding that corporations, labor organizations, political committees, and individuals may each make unlimited contributions to IEOPCs). 
	65 
	See SpeechNow.org v. 

	See Advisory Op. 2011-12 (Majority PAC) at 3 (“AO 2011-12”) (determining that solicitation restrictions under 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A) remain applicable to contributions solicited by federal candidates, officeholders, and other covered persons); Conciliation Agreement ¶ ¶ 7, 8, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (“CA”) (same); F&LA at 11, MURs 6563 and 6733 (Rep. Aaron Schock). 
	66 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Prohibited and Excessive Contributions: Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money, 67 Fed. Reg. 49,064, 49,086 (July 29, 2002) (defining “to solicit” as to “ask another person to make a contribution or donation, or transfer of funds, or to provide anything of value, including through a conduit or intermediary”). 
	67 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928 (Mar. 20, 2006). 
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	Figure
	1 the Commission’s former regulation, promulgated in 2002, was too narrow and failed to include 2 “implicit requests for money.”  In promulgating the revised definition, the Commission 3 explained that the revision is broad in order to “ensure[] that candidates and parties may not, 4 implicitly and indirectly, raise unregulated funds for either themselves, or subject to statutory 5 exceptions, ‘friendly outsiders.’”  The Commission further stated:  “By covering implicit and 6 indirect requests and recommend
	69
	70
	71 

	10 The standard for determining whether a communication is a solicitation is objective and 11 does not turn on the subjective interpretations of the person making the communication or its 12   This objective standard “hinges on whether the recipient should have reasonably 13 understood that a solicitation was made.”  The Commission has explained the that “[t]he 14 context of a communication is often important because words that would not, by their literal 15 meaning, convey a solicitation, may in some conte
	recipients.
	72
	73
	74 

	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,927 (quoting Shays v. FEC, 414 F.3d 76, 104-06 (D.C. Cir. 2005)). Id. at 13,928 (quoting Shays, 414 F.3d at 106). Id. 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928. Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,929. Solicitation E&J at 13,929. For instance, it is not a solicitation for a candidate to simply state: “Joe, X is a 
	69 
	70 
	71 
	72 
	73 
	74 

	very worthy organization. It has always been very helpful to me.” Id. On the other hand, context could render the same statement by the candidate a solicitation. For example, if Joe is introduced to the candidate by a fundraiser for the organization saying: “I’ve been trying to persuade Joe to commit to giving X another $50,000. Wouldn’t that be great, Senator?”, then, because of the context, the same words would be reasonably understood as a solicitation. Id. 
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	Figure
	1 may not be a solicitation when considered in context, such as when the words are used as part of 2 a joke or parody.”3 The Trump Committee’s one-page “Statement on Dishonest Fundraising Groups” 4 “condemns any organization that deceptively uses the President’s name, likeness, trademarks or 5 branding and confuses voters.”The Statement continues, stating that “[t]here is no excuse for 6 any group, including ones run by people who claim to be part of our ‘coalition,’ to suggest they 7 directly support Presi
	75 
	76 
	77 

	10 authorized by President Trump and the RNC,” the Trump Committee itself, the RNC and two 11 joint fundraising committees, as well as “one approved outside non-campaign group, America 12 First Action, which is run by allies of the President and is a trusted supporter of President 13 Trump’s policies and agendas.”14 The warning against “organization[s] that deceptively use[] the President’s name” to 15 fundraise declares the precise reason why the statement is made and clarifies the context in 16 which the 
	78 

	Id. (citing Phantom Touring, Inc. v. Affiliated Publ’ns, 953 F.2d 724, 727 (1st Cir. 1992) (providing as an example the point that no reasonable listener would understand a theater critic who wrote “[t]he producer who decided to charge admission for that show is committing highway robbery” to be accusing the producer of the actual crime of robbery)); see F&LA, MUR 6939 (Mike Huckabee, et al.); F&LA, MUR 7135 (Donald Trump for President Inc., et al.). 
	75 

	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
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	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. 
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	1 
	1 
	1 
	from “scam groups” that could be involved in potential illegal activity and are only interested in 

	2 
	2 
	“filling [the groups’] own pockets”. 

	3 
	3 
	The Trump Committee asserts that it “provid[ed] the identity of an appropriate recipient, 

	4 
	4 
	without any attempt to motivate another person to contribute or donate funds” and that such a 

	5 
	5 
	statement does not constitute a “solicitation” or “direction” under the Act.79  Indeed, the 

	6 
	6 
	objective and unambiguous reading of the Trump Committee statement encourages authorities to 

	7 
	7 
	investigate the alleged scam groups for potential illegal activities as they are  only “interested in 

	8 
	8 
	filling their own pockets with money from innocent Americans’ paychecks, and sadly 

	9 
	9 
	retirements.”  Then it lists the four “authorized” groups and one outside “approved” group so as 

	10 
	10 
	to distinguish “scam groups” from legitimate groups.  Applying the Commission’s objective test, 

	11 
	11 
	and considering the context in which it is made, the statement does not, at any time, ask, request, 

	12 
	12 
	or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, 

	13 
	13 
	transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.  As such, the Trump Committee’s 

	14 
	14 
	statement is not a solicitation. Accordingly, the Commission dismisses the allegation that the 

	15 
	15 
	Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft 

	16 
	16 
	money contributions to AF Action.    


	MUR 7340 Supp. Compl. at 2; MUR 7609 Compl. at 3. MUR 7340 Trump Committee Supp. Resp. at 1 (quoting Solicitation E&J at 13,933). 
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	capacity as treasurer; Parscale Strategy, 
	capacity as treasurer; Parscale Strategy, 
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	LLC; Bradley J. Parscale; MO Strategies, 
	LLC; Bradley J. Parscale; MO Strategies, 
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	Inc.; Marty Obst 
	Inc.; Marty Obst 
	) 


	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive 
	session, do hereby certify that on April 20, 2021, the Commission took the following actions in 
	the above-captioned matter:  
	1. Failed by a vote of 3-2 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by establishing, financing, maintaining, or controlling America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc., which raised and spent soft money. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Find reason to believe that America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc. and Jon Proch in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by accepting soft money contributions as 
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	organizations established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a 
	organizations established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a 
	organizations established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a 

	federal candidate or office holder. 
	federal candidate or office holder. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump; Donald J. Trump for 

	TR
	President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as 

	TR
	treasurer, though their agent, Brad Parscale, violated 52 U.S.C. 

	TR
	§ 30125 by raising soft money for America First Policies, Inc. and 

	TR
	America First Action, Inc. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Take no action at this time regarding the allegation that the Republican 

	TR
	National Committee and Ronald C. Kaufman in his official capacity as 

	TR
	treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Take no action at this regarding the allegation that Michael R. Pence, 

	TR
	and Great America Committee and Cabell Hobbs in his official 

	TR
	capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125. 

	f. 
	f. 
	Find reason to believe that America First Policies, Inc. violated 52 

	TR
	U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30118 by making excessive and prohibitedcontributions in the form of coordinated expenditures. 

	g. 
	g. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 

	TR
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. 

	TR
	§§ 30104(b), 30116, and 30118 by receiving and failing to report 

	TR
	excessive and prohibited contributions in the form of coordinated 

	TR
	expenditures. 

	h. 
	h. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 

	TR
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. 

	TR
	§ 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money. 

	i. 
	i. 
	Direct the Office of General Counsel to draft appropriate Factual and 

	TR
	Legal Analyses consistent with these findings. 

	j. 
	j. 
	Authorize the use of compulsory process. 

	k. 
	k. 
	Approve the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Cooksey and Dickerson dissented.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
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	2. Failed by a vote of 2-2 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Dismiss the allegation that Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by establishing, financing, maintaining, or controlling America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc., which raised and spent soft money. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Dismiss the allegation that America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc. and Jon Proch in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by accepting soft money contributions as organizations established, financed, maintained, or controlled by a federal candidate or office holder. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Dismiss the allegation that Donald J. Trump; Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer; or the Republican National Committee and Ronald C. Kaufman in his official capacity as treasurer, though their agent, Brad Parscale, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by raising soft money for America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Dismiss the allegation that Michael R. Pence, and Great America Committee and Cabell Hobbs in his official capacity as treasurer, through their agent, Marty Obst, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 by raising soft money for America First Policies, Inc. and America First Action, Inc. 

	e. 
	e. 
	e. 
	Dismiss the allegation that America First Policies, Inc. violated 52

	U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30118 by making excessive and prohibitedcontributions in the form of coordinated expenditures. 

	f. 
	f. 
	Dismiss the allegation that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(b), 30116, and 30118 by receiving and failing to report excessive and prohibited contributions in the form of coordinated expenditures. 

	g. 
	g. 
	Approve the Factual and Legal Analyses, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated November 24, 2020, that correspond to those dismissed respondents. 

	h. 
	h. 
	Close the file as to America First Policies, Inc.; America First Action, Inc. and Jon Proch in his official capacity as treasurer; RepublicanNational Committee and Ronald C. Kaufman in his official capacity astreasurer; Parscale Strategy, LLC; Bradley J. Parscale; Great AmericaCommittee and Cabell Hobbs in his official capacity as treasurer; 
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	President Donald J. Trump; Vice President Michael R. Pence; MO Strategies, Inc.; and Marty Obst. 
	i. Issue appropriate letters. 
	Commissioners Cooksey and Dickerson voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Broussard and Weintraub dissented.  Commissioner Walther abstained.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
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	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive 
	session, do hereby certify that on April 22, 2021, the Commission took the following actions in 
	the above-captioned matter:  
	1. Failed by a vote of 2-3 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Dismiss under Heckler v. Chaney the allegation that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Approve the Factual and Legal Analysis, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated November 24, 2020, subject to the edits last circulated by Commissioner Cooksey’s Office on March 24, 2021 at 12:44 p.m. 
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	Commissioners Cooksey and Dickerson voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub dissented.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
	2. Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Close the file. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Issue appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for decision.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
	Attest: 
	Digitally signed by Vicktoria Allen Date:  17:16:36 -04'00' 
	Vicktoria Allen 
	2021.05.05

	Vicktoria J. Allen Acting Deputy Secretary of the Commission 
	              May 5, 2021 Date 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Washington, DC 20463 
	Figure
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED VIA EMAIL TO: anoti@campaignlegalcenter.org 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED VIA EMAIL TO: anoti@campaignlegalcenter.org 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED VIA EMAIL TO: anoti@campaignlegalcenter.org 
	May 12 2021 

	AdavNoti Campaign Legal Center 1101 14th Street, NW Suite 400 Washington, DC 20005 
	AdavNoti Campaign Legal Center 1101 14th Street, NW Suite 400 Washington, DC 20005 

	TR
	RE: 
	MUR 7609 


	Dear Mr. Noti: 
	The Federal Election Commission has considered the allegations contained in your complaint dated May 9, 2019, but there was an insufficient number ofvotes to find reason to believe that respondents violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, and an insufficient number of votes to dismiss the allegations. Accordingly, on April 22, 2021, the Commission closed the file in this matter. A Statement ofReasons providing a basis for the Commission's decision will follow. 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review ofthe Commission's dismissal ofthis action. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8). Ifyou have any questions, please contact Nick Mueller, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Sincerely, 
	Lisa J. Stevenson Acting General Counsel 
	~A~ 
	BY: Mark Allen Assistant General Counsel 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Washington, DC 20463 
	Figure
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

	May 12, 2021 
	Tiffany Muller End Citizens United PAC P.O. Box 66005 Washington, DC 20035 
	RE: MUR 7609 
	Dear Ms. Muller: 
	The Federal Election Commission has considered the allegations contained in your complaint dated May 9, 2019, but there was an insufficient number of votes to find reason to believe that respondents violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, and an insufficient number of votes to dismiss the allegations.  Accordingly, on April 22, 2021, the Commission closed the file in this matter.  A Statement of Reasons providing a basis for the Commission’s decision will follow. 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8).  If you have any questions, please contact Nick Mueller, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Sincerely, 
	Lisa J. Stevenson 
	Acting General Counsel BY: Mark Allen 
	Assistant General Counsel 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Washington, DC 20463 
	Figure
	May 12, 2021 Megan Sowards Newton, Esq. Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 
	BY ELECTRONIC MAIL ONLY 
	msowardsnewton@jonesday.com 

	RE: MURs 7340 & 7609 Donald J. Trump Make America Great Again PAC
	  and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer 
	Dear Ms. Newton: 
	On March 8, 2018, May 15, 2019, and May 17, 2019, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients, Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a/ Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, of two complaints and a supplement to the first complaint alleging that your clients had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).   
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the allegations raised in the complaints but there was an insufficient number of votes to find reason to believe your clients violated the Act as alleged, and an insufficient number of votes to dismiss the allegations.  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter. A Statement of Reasons explaining the Commission’s decision will follow. 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	MURs 7340 & 7609 Megan Sowards Newton, Esq. Page 2 of 2 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nick Mueller, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Sincerely, 
	BY: Mark Allen Assistant General Counsel 
	Lisa J. Stevenson Acting General Counsel 
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	Case 1:21-cv-01665-TJK Document 17 Filed 09/07/23 Page 1 of 2 
	IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
	END CITIZENS UNITED PAC, Plaintiff, 
	No. 21-cv-1665 (TJK) 
	V. 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, Defendant. 
	l RO'r'OSl!DJ ORDER On April 18, 2022, this Court denied Plaintiffs motion for default judgment. ECF Nos. 11, 
	1

	12. On June 9, 2023, the Court ofAppeals ordered "that the District Court's judgment be reversed and the case be remanded to the District Court with instructions to retum the case to the Commission for further action, in accordance with the opinion of the court[.]" Per Curiam Judgment at 1, End Citizens United PAC v. FEC, No. 22-5176 (D.C. Cir. June 9, 2023). The mandate from the Comt of Appeals has now issued. See Mandate of USCA, Aug. 1, 2023, ECF No. 15. 
	Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 55, default judgment be entered on Plaintiffs claim that Defendant's dismissal ofPlaintiffs administrative complaint was contrary to law. It is further ORDERED that, pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8)(C), Defendant shall conform to this Order within 30 days. It is further ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction over this matter until Defendant takes final agency action with respect to Plaintiffs administrative complaint. See Cobe
	v. Norton, 240 F.3d 1081, 1109 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (noting district court's discretion to "retain 
	Case 1:21-cv-01665-TJK Document 17 Filed 09/07/23 Page 2 of 2 
	jurisdiction until a federal agency has complied with its legal obligations" and to "compel regular progress reports in the meantime"). 
	See Compl. ¶¶ 113-124 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
	See Compl. ¶¶ 113-124 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
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	GAC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 23, 2018). 
	GAC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 23, 2018). 
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	Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
	Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
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	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS 
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	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent 
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	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 137-145. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 3-5 (Apr. 30, 2018); MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 137-145. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 3-5 (Apr. 30, 2018); MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 137-145. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 3-5 (Apr. 30, 2018); MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	See MUR 7340 Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 137-145. MUR 7340 AF Policies Resp. at 3-5 (Apr. 30, 2018); MUR 7340 AF Action Resp. at 4 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
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	See Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 101-112. Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 
	See Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 101-112. Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 
	See Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 101-112. Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 
	See Compl. ¶¶ 84-100 (Mar. 5, 2018). See id. ¶¶ 101-112. Supp. Compl. at 2 (May 15, 2019). 
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	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.
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	 21, 2017) (reporting $452,254.89 in independent expenditures). 


	See Compl. ¶¶ 113-124 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
	See Compl. ¶¶ 113-124 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
	1 
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	Compl. ¶ 31 (citing Maggie Haberman, Dispute Over Political Strategy Erupts Inside the White House, NEW YORK TIMES (Dec. 21, 2017), ). 
	2 
	lewandowki.html
	https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/21/us/politics/trump-stepien
	-



	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. 
	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. 
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	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). 
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	Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS (Jan. 30, 2017), ).  While Trump Committee reports filed with the Commission do not indicate any disbursements to either Obst or MO Strategies, multiple media reports have noted Obst’s role as a campaign advisor, and this role appears to be confirmed by Obst’s LinkedIn profile. See Marty Obst, LINKEDIN, (last visited Nov. 23, 2020). 
	Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS (Jan. 30, 2017), ).  While Trump Committee reports filed with the Commission do not indicate any disbursements to either Obst or MO Strategies, multiple media reports have noted Obst’s role as a campaign advisor, and this role appears to be confirmed by Obst’s LinkedIn profile. See Marty Obst, LINKEDIN, (last visited Nov. 23, 2020). 
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	At the time the Complaint in MUR 7340 was received, Anthony W. Parker was the treasurer of the Republican National Committee, but the current treasurer is Ronald C. Kaufman. See Republican National Committee Amended Statement of Organization at 3 (Oct. 30, 2019). 
	At the time the Complaint in MUR 7340 was received, Anthony W. Parker was the treasurer of the Republican National Committee, but the current treasurer is Ronald C. Kaufman. See Republican National Committee Amended Statement of Organization at 3 (Oct. 30, 2019). 
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	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. 
	Compl. ¶ 17; see also id. ¶ 19. 
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	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 37. See RNC Resp. at 9 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 37. See RNC Resp. at 9 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 37. See RNC Resp. at 9 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
	See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 37. See RNC Resp. at 9 (Apr. 30, 2018). 
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	See Compl. ¶¶ 101-112 (Mar. 5, 2018). 
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	See e.g., AF Policies 24-Hour Report (Sept.expenditures). See Compl. ¶¶ 95, 109. See AF Action, Inc., Statement of Organization (Apr. 12, 2017). Compl. ¶¶ 35-36, 96-97; see also, e.g., AF Action 2017 Year-End Report (Jan. 23, 2018). Compl. ¶ 42. Id. ¶ 13 (citing Julie Bykowicz, Trump Advisers Start ‘America First Policies’ Nonprofit, AP NEWS 
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	IT IS SO ORDERED. 
	IT IS SO ORDERED. 
	~ EH~ KELLY 
	United States District Judge 
	Figure
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	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	) 

	TR
	) 
	MUR 7609R 

	Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a 
	Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a 
	) 

	Donald J. Trump for President and 
	Donald J. Trump for President and 
	) 

	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity 
	) 

	as treasurer 
	as treasurer 
	) 


	AMENDED CERTIFICATION 
	AMENDED CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive session, do hereby certify that on November 01, 2023, the Commission took the following actions in the above-captioned matter:  
	1. Failed by a vote of 3-2 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Find reason to believe that Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a/ Donald J. Trump for President and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Approve the relevant portions of the Factual and Legal Analysis, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated November 24, 2020. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Enter into conciliation with Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President and Bradly T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer prior to a finding of probable cause to believe. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Approve the conciliation agreement, as recommended in the First General Counsel Report dated November 24, 2020, and as amended at the table. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Approve the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Lindenbaum, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the motion. Commissioners Cooksey and Dickerson dissented.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
	Federal Election Commission Page 2 Certification for MUR 7609R November 1, 2023 
	2. Failed by a vote of 2-3 to: 
	a.
	a.
	a.
	 Dismiss under Heckler v. Chaney the allegation that Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Close the file. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Issue appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Cooksey and Dickerson voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Broussard, Lindenbaum, and Weintraub dissented.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
	3. Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Close the file. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Issue appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Lindenbaum, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.  Commissioner Trainor was recused and did not vote. 
	November 3, 2023 Date 
	Attest: 
	Digitally signed by Vicktoria J Allen
	Figure

	Vicktoria J Allen 
	Vicktoria J Allen 
	Date:  18:04:03 -04'00' 
	2023.11.03

	Vicktoria J. Allen Deputy Secretary of the Commission 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 
	Figure
	VIA ELECTRONIC AND CERTIFIED MAIL 
	VIA ELECTRONIC AND CERTIFIED MAIL 
	VIA ELECTRONIC AND CERTIFIED MAIL 

	RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED dorothy@endcitizensunited.com Tiffany Muller End Citizens United PAC 
	RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED dorothy@endcitizensunited.com Tiffany Muller End Citizens United PAC 
	November 6, 2023 

	P.O. Box 66005 
	P.O. Box 66005 

	Washington, DC 20035 
	Washington, DC 20035 

	TR
	RE: 
	MUR 7609R 

	TR
	Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T.  Crate in his official capacity as treasurer 

	Dear Ms. Muller: 
	Dear Ms. Muller: 


	On May 12, 2021, you were notified that the Federal Election Commission had considered the allegations contained in your complaint in MUR 7609 dated May 9, 2019, but there was an insufficient number of votes to find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money, and an insufficient number of votes to dismiss the allegations.  Accordingly, the Commission closed
	Subsequently you filed suit pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8) challenging the Commission’s dismissal as contrary to law. After consideration by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia and then the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, the matter was remanded to the Commission for further action in accordance with the opinion of the D.C. Circuit.  See End Citizens United PAC v. FEC, D.D.C. civil action No. 21-1665 (TJK) and End Citizens United PAC v. FEC, D.C. Cir. No. 22
	On November 2, 2023, the Commission reconsidered the allegation but there was an insufficient number of votes to find reason to believe that Make America Great Again PAC f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money, and an insufficient number of votes to dismiss the allegations.  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter. Attached is a Statement of Reasons fr
	MUR 7609R Tiffany Muller Page 2 of2 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016).   
	The Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action.  See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8).  
	If you have any questions, please contact Nick Mueller, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1577 or . 
	nmueller@fec.gov
	nmueller@fec.gov


	Sincerely, 
	Lisa J. Stevenson 
	Acting General Counsel BY: Mark Allen 
	Assistant General Counsel 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
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	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	) 

	TR
	) 
	MURs 7340/7609R 

	GREAT AMERICA COMMITTEE, et al. 
	GREAT AMERICA COMMITTEE, et al. 
	) 

	TR
	) 


	STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIRMAN SEAN J. COOKSEY AND COMMISSIONER ALLEN DICKERSON 
	STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIRMAN SEAN J. COOKSEY AND COMMISSIONER ALLEN DICKERSON 
	Collectively, these two Matters raised seven separate allegations that the Respondents violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("Act" or "FECA'').Our Office of General Counsel ("OGC") recommended that we dismiss six of those seven allegations, and we voted accordingly for the reasons OGC articulated in its First General Counsel's Report.Conversely, OGC recommended reason to believe regarding one allegation, that then-President Donald Trump's 2020 campaign committee violated the Act "b
	1 
	2 
	3 

	OGC asked us to find reason to believe this violation occurred because the Trump committee issued a public statement warning the candidate's supporters against groups that the committee considered to be dishonest and fraudulent. We voted to dismiss this allegation under our prosecutorial discretion. 
	I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
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	nmueller@fec.gov
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	On November 2, 2023, the Commission reconsidered the allegation but there was an insufficient number of votes to find reason to believe your client violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) and 11 C.F.R. § 300.61 by soliciting soft money, and an insufficient number of votes to dismiss the allegations.  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter. Attached is a Statement of Reasons from Vice Chairman Sean J. Cooksey and Commissioner Allen J. 
	MUR 7609R Megan Sowards Newton, Esq. Page 2 of2 
	Dickerson explaining their decision in this matter.  Additional Statements of Reasons may follow. 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
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